LEE UFAN

ENCOUNTERS



Personal Structures Art Projects # 06

LEE UFAN
ENCOUNTERS

This book is the documentation of Personal Structures Art Projects # 06. It has
been published as a limited edition. The edition comprises 150 copies of
which 50 DeLuxe, numbered from 1 to 50, and 50 DelLuxe hors commerce,
numbered from | to L. The 50 Standard copies are numbered from 51 to 100.
Each item of this limited edition consists of a book and a DVD of two encoun-
ters with Lee Ufan’s installation at the exhibition PERSONAL STRUCTURES as
part of the Venice Biennale 2011 in a case, housed together in a cassette. The
DeLuxe edition is stamped with a Japanese hanko stating Lee Ufan’s name

and additionally contains a metal plate.

This limited edition has been divided as follows:

# 1-50: DeLuxe edition: Luiscius Antiquarian Booksellers, Netherlands
#51-100: Standard edition: Luiscius Antiquarian Booksellers, Netherlands
HC I-L: Not for trade

AP #1-10: Lee Ufan

©2009-2012. Text by Lee Ufan, Karlyn De Jongh & Sarah Gold
Photos by GlobalArtAffairs Foundation

All rights reserved. No part of this publication may be reproduced, stored in a
retrieval system, or transmitted in any form or by any means, electronic, mechan-

ical, photocopying, recording or otherwise, without permission of the editor.

Concept by Rene Rietmeyer, Karlyn De Jongh & Sarah Gold

Design by Lee Ufan, Karlyn De Jongh & Sarah Gold

Printed and bound under the direction of Andreas Kriiger, Germany
Production in cooperation with Christien Bakx, www.luiscius.com
Published by GlobalArtAffairs Foundation, www.globalartaffairs.org
JATION ‘}%‘

JAPANHOUNI

LEE UFAN

ENCOUNTERS

KARLYN DE JONGH
SARAH GOLD



28 JUNE - 30 JUNE 2007
VENICE, ITALY
SARAH GOLD

In the late afternoon of Thursday 28 June 2007 we arrived in Venice.
This was the first time that | visited this city, and the tranquil, romantic
feeling is immediately present, when | think about this day.

The Dutch artist Rene Rietmeyer, initiator of the project PERSONAL
STRUCTURES, and | would have an appointment on the island next
to Venice, Murano, the next morning. Due to a previous meeting
on an art fair in Austria, | had established contact to the owner of
a glass factory, who had invited Rene to speak about a possible
cooperation. For most of our two days in Venice, we were occupied
in meetings, no time to see the city or visit the Biennale itself.

But sometime in those two days | think | have had my first
encounter with Lee Ufan. | cannot recall the time or place, but
| do believe to remember seeing the poster of his Biennale
exhibition. Showing a large white canvas with a ‘dark square] a
boulder in front of the painting. Did the poster really look like
that? Or did | imagineiit all...

In hindsight | believe that this was the first time | met Lee Ufan.
Little did | know that 5 years later | would be writing about this
first encounter.



11 SEPTEMBER 2007
VENICE, ITALY
KARLYN DE JONGH

My first encounter with Lee Ufan is also the first time | saw Venice.
It was on Tuesday 11 September 2007. | had just graduated in art
history the week before and a few days later, my internship at the
German Pavilion of the Venice Biennale would start. For me at
that time, it felt like a fresh start, a’‘new!’ life. | felt ‘future’

For budget reasons, | had taken the slow, indirect way to Venice
and arrived at the Santa Lucia train station in the late afternoon.
When leaving the train station, | saw Venice for the first time: the
typical buildings, the Grand Canal, the boats and right in front
of my face a large banner with LEE UFAN. | know Sarah has just
described this banner differently, but in my memory the banner
had a red Biennale stamp on it, and for the rest it was just white
with big, black letters saying “Lee Ufan”. At that time, the name
looked strange to me, maybe that was partly because of the large
surface and this short name. It looked interesting and it made me
curious about this artist and his exhibition. At University, there
had been lectures on Mono-ha ['school of things’]. | knew about
Nobuo Sekine. But Lee Ufan? Maybe my professor had told me
about him, but it did not stay. Until that moment, | had never
heard of the name “Lee Ufan” before.



In the weeks after, | passed this banner several times with the
vaporetto [water bus] and each time it was intriguing, this large
surface with this short name. Honestly, | do not remember
whether | ever went to see the exhibition at the Palazzo Palumbo
Fossati. Probably, | did not, because otherwise | would have
remembered. In any case, this image of Venice, with Lee Ufan’s
name in huge letters in the center, was in my memory for a long
time and will now stay with me, because of this book.

OCTOBER 2007
GIARDINI, VENICE, ITALY
KARLYN DE JONGH

My internship at the Biennale was like a two-month holiday in
Venice. | worked 24 hours a week and the rest of the time | went
sightseeing. Working in Italy, | became acquainted with the ‘lunch
break’ In my case, it meant an hour of time in which I did not have
to be at the German pavilion. At that time, | did not have much
else to do, so, besides eating a quick sandwich, | used this hour for
seeing some of the other pavilions in the Giardini.

One time, | do not remember the exact date, but it was in October,
I went to the little bookshop next to the entrance. | love books and
the small space was packed with piles of catalogues and other
publications about art. In the midst of all these piles, | saw a simple,
grey colored cover with a red Biennale logo on it. Somehow it stood
out. LEE UFAN. | recognized the name from the banner in front of
the train station. Flipping the pages in this book, | saw his work for
the first time and was immediately drawn to it, especially because
of its simplicity. | liked it a lot. For me at that moment, it was special.
Although I did not know anything about him yet, | had the feeling
he would fit in the project PERSONAL STRUCTURES: TIME - SPACE
- EXISTENCE, a project initiated by the Dutch artist Rene Rietmeyer.
I was not actively involved in this project myself at that time yet, but
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having co-curated the symposium TIME in Amsterdam together
with Sarah a few months priorin June 2007, | felt close to it. Whether
or not Rene and Sarah wanted to include Lee Ufan in PERSONAL
STRUCTURES or not, | wanted to know more about his work. But
I had no money. The book was 40 Euro and way too expensive for
me at that time. Instead, | wrote down his name hoping | would
find some information on internet and left the shop.

THE YEAR 2008
SARAH GOLD

In 2006 we had started PERSONAL STRUCTURES: TIME - SPACE -
EXISTENCE, for which we cooperated with artists such as Roman
Opalka, Joseph Kosuth and Lawrence Weiner.The project was planned
as an ongoing platform and we were constantly looking for new
artists to participate in our symposia, exhibitions and publications.

Eventually in 2008 we had the opportunity to conduct a written
interview with Lee Ufan. The questions were in English and we
received Lee Ufan’s answers in Japanese. | remember that they had
to be painstakingly translated. With the help of the Japanese artist
Yuko Sakurai, working together with the comprehension of Rene
Rietmeyer, it became a readable text after many hours of hard
work. At the time we were in Miami, and the thoughtful, sensitive
views of Lee Ufan did not coincide with the superficial American
way you find in South Beach.
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1-15JANUARY 2009
DUBLIN, IRELAND
KARLYN DE JONGH

One year after first hearing about Lee Ufan, | was scheduled for
an interview with him at his studio in Paris. For about a year now,
| was actively involved in PERSONAL STRUCTURES and my life
had developed rapidly. In 2008, we had organized a symposium
about EXISTENCE in Tokyo, several exhibitions in Miami and had
traveled throughout Europe. Most of that year’s winter | stayed
in Dublin, to focus on my project ON KAWARA: UNANSWERED
QUESTIONS as well as on preparing interviews for the publication
PERSONAL STRUCTURES: TIME - SPACE - EXISTENCE that we were
working on. This book would include interviews with Tatsuo
Miyajima, Christian Boltanski, Peter Halley, Giuseppe Penone
and several others, including Lee Ufan. At University | had
already learned about these artists; now | could meet them and
ask any question | wanted. What a chance!

Peter Lodermeyer, the Art Historian who was the main writer for this
publication, had already done a fax-interview with Lee Ufan before.
Now, he was welcome in Paris for a personal meeting with Lee Ufan
and took me along with him. It was my third ‘live’ interview.

In order to prepare questions, | had received a first translation
of this fax-interview with Lee Ufan. It was really only a draft and
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not easy to read. | was told that Lee Ufan was very difficult to
understand, but this text... At that time, | could not make much
sense of it. However, it did make clear that there had been a
complication between Lee Ufan and Lodermeyer. Although | did
not understand much of what he was saying, it was interesting
for me to see how Lee Ufan reacted to Lodermeyer’s academic
and philosophical questions. For me, it seemed better to choose
another way.

The art library in Dublin that | used in preparation for my other
interviews, had only one book and it was ‘about’ Lee Ufan, not
including his own words. | read parts of the book, but did not
find it helpful. Through the meetings | had had with other artists,
| learned it was much better to rely on the artist’s own words
than on interpretations by art historians. As Lawrence Weiner
said about one of the lectures in our Amsterdam symposium
about TIME: “Cute story, but the information he is telling us is
wrong. | was there. It was nothing like he isimagining it now." So,
I was a little skeptical about the book and did not want to‘waste’
time on it and let it color my ‘opinion’ too much. Better seemed
a fresh approach, to just go with the conversation and come up
with questions in the moment.

On 10 January the appointment with Lee Ufan was confirmed.
Now the appointment was a fact, a ‘fresh approach’ suddenly felt
more like ‘being unprepared. In principle it comes down to the
same, but is taken from a different point of view and to me, in that
moment, it did not seem so attractive anymore. So, | started to
search for more information on Internet. It is only a few years ago,
but for some reason there was not so much to find on Lee Ufan
in English. Now, there is a lot of information available: short films
and serious interviews. But at that time, it was different. | tried

various search options, but it was not a big success: apart from
the usual sum of solo and group exhibitions, | found only one
article that gave some outline of Lee Ufan’s thoughts. And a small
photograph that scared me a little: probably influenced by my
own insecurity, Lee Ufan looked very serious and tough. | gave
up searching for information. All the information | would possibly
find would not be enough to understand him anyway. | counted
on the knowledge | had gained the past year about other artists
and their thoughts about time, space and existence. | stuck to my
original plan of the ‘fresh approach



16 JANUARY 2009
LEE UFAN STUDIO, PARIS, FRANCE
KARLYN DE JONGH

On 16 January 2009 was my first personal encounter with Lee
Ufan. The meeting was at 3pm at his studio on Boulevard de
Clichy in Paris. | had a cheap Ryanair ticket and left my apartment
in Dublin around 4.30am to catch my plane. A few hours later,
| arrived at some airport far away from the center of Paris. It all
did not matter: it was my first visit to Paris and | was very excited
about this and having the chance to meet Lee Ufan in his studio—
as well as Christian Boltanski a few days later.

An hour or two later, | arrived at my hotel in Montmartre. The
neighborhood, everything, was so nice! | checked in and waited
in my room for Peter Lodermeyer and the Japanese artist Yuko
Sakurai (who joined us as a translator and photographer) to pick
me up a few minutes later. Together we went to a café on a small
square for coffee and crépes. It was cold, but sunny enough to
sit outside.

Because it was the first time Lodermeyer and | would do an
interview together, we took the opportunity to discuss how we
were going to do that. He seemed relaxed about the interview;
I was not. This was only my third ‘live’ interview. Aware of my
inexperience, | asked Lodermeyer for information about Lee Ufan,
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about the fax-interview he had done, about doing an interview in
general etc. Hearing more and more about “the art of encounter”,
helped me to relax and regain my trust and thoughts | had had
the day before leaving: just let it happen.

Around 1.30pm we left the café and walked in the direction of Lee
Ufan’s studio. We were not exactly sure where it was and did not
want to be late. But Boulevard de Clichy appeared very easy to find
as well as Lee Ufan's studio. We were way too early! Because we
just had coffee, we walked around the block, passing Lee Ufan’s
studio three times. | called Boltanski to confirm the appointment
we would have three days later and we went to the Carrefour to
buy some paprikas and water. After approximately an hour, we
decided to just sit on a bench in the green ‘park’ dividing the two
lanes on the Boulevard close to Lee Ufan’s studio.

When it was three minutes to 3pm, we walked over to Lee
Ufan’s door. Yuko had an access code to the door that opened
to a courtyard. At the end, at the right hand side, was Lee Ufan's
studio. It looked very dark, as if no one was there. We knocked.
No sound.Would Lee Ufan be at home? Then, after a few minutes,
a tiny, fragile-looking man opened the door: Lee Ufan. It was a
strange experience to suddenly see him in reality, but he was
extremely nice! We greeted each other warmly, but not in what |
knew as the Japanese greeting-ceremony: he shook our hands.

Lee Ufan invited us in and made tea. In the meantime, we
prepared for the interview: voice recorders and questions on the
table, the correct position for taking photos. It was only a very
small table, just a simple desk. | sat in the corner; Lodermeyer
opposite of me, so that Lee Ufan could sit between us. In that
moment, | did not feel comfortable enough to start looking
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around and satisfy my curiosity. But it was such a small space,
that | could see a lot from this one position—In the back was
a bathroom; behind the other door seemed to be a small
kitchen where Lee Ufan was preparing tea. In my imagination
this studio had looked completely different, more something in
the direction of Antony Gormley’s giant space in the north of
London. This was humble, quiet and modest. Almost too modest
for an artist whose paintings sell for approximately half a million
Euro. It made me wonder about Lee Ufan’s life.

From my chair, | looked at the paintings that were leaning against
the walls—three walls were used for this purpose, leaving only
space for the doors to the bathroom and kitchen, the fourth wall
had the entrance door and the table we were sitting at. There
were several paintings lined up against each of these three
walls. On the wall next to the entrance door, the painting on the
front was facing us. It was beautiful, the painting itself, but also
the fact that | was seeing this painting in Lee Ufan’s own studio.
From the paintings against the wall between the bathroom and
the kitchen, | could only see the back side: Dialogue, with a year.
And next to me were even more paintings until almost into the
kitchen. High windows were above the little table, but not much
light came in. Lee Ufan returned with tea, in what seemed to be
Lee Ufan teacups.

Lodermeyer opened the conversation in what | thought was a
very nice way, very honest and direct, asking Lee Ufan about
encounter and communicating through language. Soon it
appeared that Lee Ufan did not want to answer in English. The
question required a serious answer and Lee Ufan preferred to
giveitin Japanese.Buthis English was fine enough to understand
our questions. So, whenever Lodermeyer or | said something,
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Lee Ufan replied in Japanese and Yuko translated. Of course, it
was too much for her to translate everything Lee Ufan had said,
in a few words she communicated what to her was the point of
Lee Ufan’s answer. The answers were quite different from what
Peter and | discussed beforehand and from what | ‘expected;
but I listened carefully and had to change my previously formed
opinion constantly when it differed from what Lee Ufan seemed
to be saying.

After Lodermeyer’s good start, | felt the conversation was above
the level | was capable of at that time and did not want to interfere.
At a certain point, however, | noticed a turning point. Discussing
the word ‘Dialogue; Lee Ufan tried to explain his thoughts. The
answer seemed very different from what we had discussed before
our meeting, at the cafe. Lee Ufan’s answer did not seem to ‘fit’
into the Western, philosophical background that we had been
reading into it. Instead of accepting Lee Ufan’s answers and
throwing away previously made thoughts, Lodermeyer seemed
to stay with his position.

The discussion continued for some time, a to and fro about
‘dia-logos’ It was an interesting sight: Lodermeyer on the left,
Lee Ufan on the right and between them in the background the
title Dialogue on the back of Lee Ufan’s painting. But even after
some minutes, Lodermeyer did not seem to bend. | felt ashamed
and thought | had to do something about it, before Lee Ufan
would put us back on the street—maybe this would have never
happened, but to me, at that moment it seemed a serious risk that
I did not want to take. So, | took my chance and asked a question.
Of course, | did not understand anything of Lee Ufan’s response,
but | observed him, while he gave the answer to my question in
Japanese. His appearance and attitude changed. He looked at me
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with—what | interpreted as—a warm expression on his face; he
smiled and it seemed he was enjoying it.

The situation seemed to have calmed down and we contin-
ued with what | thought was an interesting interview. Yuko's
translation came each time after Lee Ufan’s answer. It helped
enough in finding a direction for the next question.

A slightly edited version of this conversation—without the
‘Dialogue’-episode—was published in our book PERSONAL
STRUCTURES: TIME - SPACE - EXISTENCE (Dumont, 2009) as follows:

Peter Lodermeyer: Karlyn De Jongh and | would like to talk with
you about what you call ‘the encounter with otherness’ | think
that language difficulties play a great role in the encounter with
otherness, and therefore we have brought with us as translator
the artist Yuko Sakurai. For me, ‘the encounter with otherness;,
is an interesting subject: we both speak to each other now in a
language that is not our own native language. This means that
we always have to find words that do not really express what
we want to say. One could generalize it and say that this always
happens in communication because everybody uses words in
his or her personal way.

’

Lee Ufan: In the western world, the perception of an ‘encounter
is originally defined as communication with God; it is like a
correspondence, but | do not want to start with such a difficult
and complicated subject. | would like to approach this discussion
simply as a talk about an encounter in a very normal way, such
as when people meet other people, or when we see the moon,
or when you meet a beautiful woman, or an encounter with
an incident. In fact, it starts with facing each other, which is
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simultaneously a passive and active encounter. In a sense, this
concept is not necessarily about verbal communication. Also it
is not about the differences in meaning between East and West.
| want to start from usual things, like meeting people, seeing a
beautiful flower or seeing an incident.

I was born in Korea and went to Japan when | was nineteen
years old. | have lived in Japan for a long time now. I've walked
around in many different countries, but wherever | am, | am a
foreigner, all the time. | am a stranger, and due to this, my ability
to communicate is disrupted: this in turn brings discomfort,
and leads to misunderstandings. | have lived under these
circumstances for a long time: that is ‘encounter’ for me. That’s
the reason why for me an encounter, as in Waiting for Godot [by
Samuel Beckett], does not exist: these thoughts are nonsense.
For me, our meeting here is also an encounter. Encounter is
dealing with others; it is a very simple thing.

Lee Ufan ZF ) H&HEHEWEWS DI FFETIXTZRA
EDIREVNSH\ ALY (correspondence) HfcWVRZ &%
EoTlhRERBVWE . 2Nz B UWENSHE LR WT EIF
RHTEBIC ADAEESSEN ADBZRTENWZED B
TaBTENWEEN ANEHFICH > TV KD LIzEN ZFDW
SRIENSERFEZ VWD TITDERDMESEINSIRES. TH
LEEFOHEWEWSZETT . UM LEhiF. OS2 29 —Y Y
EIFERBEERETI XETFEE FEMESEVWSEKRTIEAR
ABHTEBICEZD.HETHOAICHER D ENVRTEICH
E2o1eD  HDIWNWIKRERBREHICRDONTEDT B . F5LWSE
MEHELUZWLWDTT,

Bl BETEEN. 19ROBICARICIT>IcATI AR ICRW
B{EATWET WBARBREEZSENWTWSDTIN, ECOFICTT
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STHEIF AEARBRATT, DENDELABRATIEHS, O
2= =3y EFCHEFELVL WBAEFIRDNHEFD.
REEFALD . F5WDYDOHRTEZTTERL. FO52LSHDAN
HEWRATTIEHS HEVWHEELRW, TO—%2F5450"
S51(TATIL-RYTRE) . FDVWSEZIE. FUEVAT. IS5WS
HEWBHEWRDTT, A5 HEWidtEEDREFREZHS
WEES FEFEICEERIETT,

Karlyn De Jongh: Do you mean that you want the viewer to
experience your work in a more direct and pure way, without too
much knowledge up front?

LU: Meaning and knowledge are just tools, that is all.’‘Encounter’
starts in the very moment of contact at a location—this is most
important. The ‘tools” are needed later on, so that is why it is
sometimes disturbing to experience the encounter. ‘Encounter’
is not only related to art, but also to exchanging greetings,
looking at a stone, watching the sun, experiencing an incident,
etc. These things are outside of myself. It starts from the outside
and then | am going to expand my own inside. To look at modern
art needs knowledge. We require knowledge of history to
understand classical art. If we do not know about Christianity
and Greek mythology, we cannot understand western art. When
| just look at the painting itself, | cannot understand it at all, it
requires a broad depth of prior knowledge. Modern art also has
many rules and artists are creating works by using those rules.
| want to be different from those rules; | want to be free. This is
why | want to have reactions from African, American, European
and Asian people encountering my work like, “Wow, what is it?”
The meaning does not matter, but | want to have these fresh
moments; they are very important for me.
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LU: BERPHIH, ZNIBERICTERVHEWE FIH TR
ZDIRBNRYITILEE SR TRETH > TRERDIZHITIZIR
BIC32EHH D, NIFHRICEES T B\, (FUHFELTED,
BREZLED AIBZZRED. HBBIVEARGZRILD BHICR
DO ZONSEIEDNSIRED DS NDERDIERAT
Fo2IhSHEEL BPORAIZESETETIT<DTI,

BV VTF—rDBEIE BBEHICHBENDETI,TTAD. IZ
Iy T7—NMNIHABIDBETIFIZIE. FIUANKEN FUY
vHEEZEBEULGWE FEF—NMNIBSBRWDITTLL. N
& AYDOHFDBENE Y ER > TERBSBWVNEY VT
—rBWBABKHRENH > TCSH. P—T 1 ANIZES NS
ZFHBUTTERE>TWRITNhE  BRZEITEFSVWSHERELE
5. 62TV —=TODIEWESEDIEZE. 7 7YADA T XY
HDAI—AV/IDADNBRTE. I TDANRTH,. ZDOERLE
[FEBHEMNEULTT—, SNIFBATEZSEWVWS ZFS5VLWDIRDHD
BUWHE LB FHRBENH LD FOIENKRELEE S
TWET,

PL: When | look at your sculpture that, for instance, consists of a
stone and a plate of steel; it is seemingly simple. On the other hand,
once you become aware of the situation it becomes complex. In a
way there is an encounter between the steel plate and the stone,
but when you look at it there is an encounter between me, as a
viewer, and the artwork; it becomes even more complex. At the
same time, the surrounding space counts and there is an encounter
with it too.

LU: Simple and complex exist at the same time. This is the character
of the encounter, the ‘intermediate section’ It is not just an
encounter with my work; | have an encounter with the world. Iron
and even steel have existed since ancient times, but a steel plate is

26

made in an industrial society. A stone is not man-made. Stones lay
around anywhere by mountains and rivers. Whether you are from
Africa, from Paris, or from America, everybody knows; stones are
from nature, and a steel plate is industrial. | have thought about
what the viewers can feel and see. | try to make the viewer feel the
combination of things, those made by our industrial society and
those that are from nature.

| don't make just massive objects; | create space: ‘Ba’ All my works
involve space and time; these are precisely my subject matter.
Normally, in modern art, the work is the object itself. My art is not
a painting and not a sculpture. | don’t make just objects, | create
space:’Ba’andbeing there’ What is going to happen with the stone
and the steel plate, what | can feel with them being together, that
is very important.

LU: HERABMEEMIIRIRFICHDE T FNHHHEIE, N
HOUIRTIMEREESSOTIERLL FNERENSTHRER
E5DTTHZDEDIF. HRISHZIIND, #HiRlE EEE
EMESTEBDIFATI AIFABEIME>THEVWEDRATY A
& ETTHED > TVWBED T IUPEFISATEH, 77UHD
AIVIDANTAIADANTHZS5D #HTH. AIZERLRD. 8%
Wit EEMLESIMESTZBDEM > TVWDDTY, EiCIE, EEA
2DESTEHDE BROFICHZHDZE, ChzilsrEdhbtEs
EICES>TAANRZZDMN F5WSHAERUSBIENTES
DM ZONSZEEPS>TVNBATY,

EIEBERS ATV HEDZDTIIRL T ZD—DDIHHEE
2. EDERIEFET HORERE, ZHEP. FE. ZNEES ULED
BETHIDTI L@ BV V77— NI AERIEIFEAEATV
JRGATY, EZBDDEDIGEOEZ O ATV TV N EERCE
TR IBEEDIERATI . ZDHBICEEDLEDIERAT
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T, DR EHKIRNESRZDM, F5WSIFHICEEHLEEIET,
AIHNBERDH—HEICT—ERUSNDIXTRATT. TNHKER
AT,

PL: In one of your texts you mentioned that there should be some
strangeness in a work of art and especially in sculpture. What do
you mean by ‘strangeness’?

LU: There exist unknown characteristics outside of myself and
the community. This, in fact, is ‘Otherness. Humans want to
perceive and understand this with all the knowledge gained
from Modernism. But in reality, you feel a distortion, a gap
between knowledge and reality. You see the separation in
between them and you start becoming aware of the unknown.
For example, we can understand a stone with knowledge, by
analyzing it. But when you see a stone, you do not know at all;
we often have the feeling “what is that?” It is like this meeting
with you: now | know something about you, but still | do not
‘know’ you. This is not simply “I do not know”; rather, this is an
unknown character. An unknown character always invites me to
learn more about things in one or another way. The unknown
part has not been set from the beginning. If somebody asks me
where the unknown part is, it does not exist anywhere, because
it comes from the relations you experienced. We can understand
tomorrow as a mental construct, but the truth of how tomorrow
will actually take place is ever elusive. We can construct
information from knowledge about tomorrow, but we do not
know it until it happens in real life. Constantly being with the
world that is unknown means that there are a lot of variables. It
happens outside of myself: that’s why | can only understand the
inside of myself, but because of that which exists outside of me,
there is the unknown.
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LU: RAIMEE WS DI B HEEDOADIETT, DEDMED
ZETTABIFCOEYZXLDFTEETEMHTRESE
F5, BN HMBEBRENTN W DBETDCDDEET B
T RAEDIDHTLKBATITHIAIE. AL AEEE LTE ZhlE
PHITNISEEEDIATI AMFEL T > TWTH . AZRES
EPSIEDIRSIZWN, CNIZAEBE S, FSWSESHEWEEDHSR
35, 5P > TE > TWTHFRAFZR > TVWTH, K<ES
B IO RAERA T CNIXISEEEZSH. HHIEE5h,
FNE T ZT MBI EEFE S VWBARDDEF >TLET . BR
THO>THABTH>TH RAEEWSDIE. HEHEESZDT
EHDFEBAFDRIMENEZICHDIDNEBINTH, ECIC
HBDHDTHRW,ZNIEHZERDPTHTLBIERATI
feBld O EIEA#E LTI DT EH RIS WA
T,

DED NONTMEEF - TNBEWVWSZERATI BRIEESR
M HEEUTE BRE LTSHEAIITENS, TH. ERIZD
MERW I T ERESIF HRERICH D& ZNHRAME
T, ZFNIE BRDANDZEEMS feh s BODHREBIDZ &1,
BDAAIETE ADZEEDESRMBATT,

PL: What | find interesting is what you said about the body as
interface between ‘me and the outside world' The otherness starts
with the body because it is something we never can understand
completely. There is a strong physical presence in your work. Can
you tell me a bit more about the importance of the body in making
your work and in receiving it?

LU: The meaning of ‘body’ is perceived differently in the Asian and
the Western world. In English, the word ‘body’ simply means ‘flesh
and blood; but in Japanese, Korean and Chinese it has a more
extensive meaning. The body itself is not just ‘myself; it includes
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the relations with the outside. In its contact with the outside, the
body becomes something ‘in the middle; or ‘in between’ So, when
you use your body as a channel, contact with the outside goes well.
It does not go well when you want to contact your surroundings
only with knowledge.

When | make a painting, | use my body as a channel, so | paint with
my body. That | paint with my body means that it contains not only
my knowledge, it contains much more. It is very important that the
body contains more things than just knowledge. | think, Peter, you
do not fully understand my meaning. The body is influenced by
its relations with its surroundings: | do not completely ‘own’ it just
by myself. | paint my relation to the outside naturally through this
intermediate connection. My body is not mine, and my body is not
justinside or outside, it is in between. This is very important.

LU: COEEBDRTA—ETF I T TEOIEEREVSDIF . ETEL
FIREBONRT A —EWSERAELITERTDTIN, HARE.
BEE PEETIE.WEREFTTIRBLL BERZOHONED DL
DTIRBLAEDEENREDEESTDTI AEDEET, &
BTEE> TVWSDONEERRATY  Ieh S BEREENCT ZE
NEDEEN EFW JFE L FTcaVFI78LESELTHLE
FLVDERL,

FESIeZMEE BRZENET D FERTH DI T FEFT
L EEDRBIEIDABDTIEBRLTABUADEDZ. KL
RAATNDG CNIBEERIETY,

R—=F—[CIEODEBVWEBSAEITES. BAEIIETDEDDH
Z2H5DTH>THEPDHDTIFRW. BDDEDTH S, ZDH
BIEZEUTHEAEDEENER LT W BEEF. EDED
Ue W REAICARITHR ZDEBATT. ENHAEERA
TI,EDEEMEN. KEEETY,
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KDJ: If you control everything, it seems difficult to have an
encounter, because in that case nothing seems to come back to
you. Do you need the openness for an encounter to take place?

LU: Each time | give an answer, | ask myself; “should | do this, or
should | do that?” When | make a painting, | also have small
encounters: a feeling of subtlety, questions and other things come
up. It seems that you confuse ‘encounter’ with ‘pure continuity"
‘Encounter’ is non-continuous: always changing. It is important
that it is a passive and active thing. That is the reason why | want
to paint a multitude of seemingly the same paintings, endlessly.
For me, perfection does not exist, nor does a work that can be
controlled one hundred percent. | cannot know what will happen
at the moment | start working in a certain location.

LU: ZEZZBEEEREICISNR. HHIREVS INSBREEWE
NSRBI ETHE > TLBIEP REPRARIEIHEZ T H<
EEICHTKBDTI  HARFEHEWEMRRREERELTWS
LS HEWEIEERDEDTHD X T EDL D, ZLTEH
CHEETHDIEEZTN ISRV LA SR UKEZEERITH
HWEHEEKRBRDDHZFDEAINSTIEH S BEEMN HBDWN
[F100% 3 RA—ILTBIEETERWNEWVWSZEFZESIWNSZ
ETRATI LR T ZDIRIF TRADRI DN OISR ND T,

PL: What do you think about the concept of ‘time’? | think an
encounter is always something that happens in a certain moment.
You can't hold onto it; if you tried to, it would completely change
the situation. There is a moment and then a next moment and the
next... Is this your notion of time?

LU: ‘'Ticking’ time, next and next and next...; this is the nature of
time. Is it like one continuous line, or does it break up by each
tick? The theory of time is a very difficult subject. Henri Bergson

31



has spoken about ‘homogeneous time’ and ‘duration’. As memory,
we remember things in our brain which we have done before and
we continue on from there. But this continuity will change as new
experiences intermingle with stored memories. | do not know if it
continues in purity. Time in memory and time as continuity change
through new situations, and they overlap each other. Time has
two faces. The first is time as a finite measurement, or ‘clock time’;
very matter-of-fact, or physical. The second is time as memory,
as human based experiences. The two do not exist individually,
sometimes they go together and sometimes they separate, all the
while influencing each other.

LU:  BFEORTCRIERIZEVWSEDIE, —DDEFMEZFHFDOOD
MNEZENZNIBUINTWZOh RS LTI KZEH LW
ZBTToTHFDRT/I\VY-NILTYDESH AN, S
MEE > TVWEIEREVCEDOHRT /P> oI & & DRI
HBDDITTI, THZDOFEIF HULWRRZHF DT bz
EZBDTIIEHOSHBIIFRT D ENHBINIESKWTN
ETImeldEAETY —DFDTimesE ZZTHEZ T TimeE WS HD
M EEELTOFFREEWS I EE FNICRIBE S5 X 2015
EWSHEDONY T oTWBTERERBWET,

KB ZDDEZR > TVWE Y. — DI ORHE. BHTYIE
HRER. 5> — DI BEBEN—ZICLIc AB D RO/,
DZDE HEATRIR TR A WD BENZDRIBLESD
FTRBHDEEBSDTT, Z2ITBIENDEENG S,

KDJ: Do you see your work as site-specific?

LU: My work is decided in relation to a particular location, and
in relation to the space. Normally fine spaces exist everywhere,
be they a mountain, a riverside, a gallery, a home, etc. But this is

32

very complex, and raises many difficult questions. That is why the
way my work relates to the space in which it will be presented is
the most important aspect | consider. But the truth is, anywhere
is fine. | do not place my completed work on the spot; my work is
made ready through its relation with the space where | want to
place it. The relation itself is infinite.

LU: @2 TIRIBE DR, ZDIAR—AEDEHR, COBEFRTED
FEEIRES>TITKDTILTTRIF. ECTHEVWWETRATI, I
THINFETH BEERTH BAADRTH, TH. ETHEMT. c<
SADEBEEIEZTWSEHSE, —BRELRDIF I TZDH
KIDBEDERTHEREESTEINNDULT DED-TITLZ
ETT, THARYF. ECTHVWWITRATI EIZIFEDBERT
ERDHEREN>TWKDTH > T EEK EN S IfERmEZFIICE
CEWSZETIBDERBA LIS BRIFNERBZDTT,

PL: In the interview we made before, you said something that |
found very interesting. You said that modern times have forgotten
about the death of the artwork, but that you think carefully about
the life and death of the artwork. What are your thoughts about the
life and death of the artwork?

LU: In modern society, many things get shut off: to exist, to
talk, to see, etc. A conflict between life and death without a
relationship to existence: such are the characteristics of modern
ontology. We call this anthropocentrism. In the Universe, there
constantly is birth and death, appearing and disappearing;
we all live under these circumstances. These things are always
happening in my life as well. Death is nothingness: untellable,
invisible; but there is no doubt that it has a relationship with
ordinary life and therefore it lives within me. Because we think
about death in our life, we can have an awareness of infinity.
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Death is not opposite from Life, it is a facet of life, helping us to
understand a fragment of infinity.

LU: ERIFFEITBIEBDICERBIEDMIE B . Vvyh
PINUVEUIo F I THERZFTEEEDOLSICHIISESZD
I EY VAV NOY =0 HETT . e ABFRLOEREVVNE
Th FHTIIEZTVWSAREDONEFTNID . FEALD . RN
TEDBEZATED U TWBESICHEAIZ. BEZDESKRIRROFEHIC
WBDTTWDEERDHICHERI>TVWBIETIFIIETH
BEMNBRIENTERVWEN BIBWEEINEITHN U LZE
niF BEWS<KHE.BAEHICHDBERLTWRIETI %
BUIETERZMET ZIENHERKZDTILIIFED RXIH
BTCIRBL EZHTI DEBROBEHEDTT,

PL: When you speak about the life and death of an artwork, | think
about the fact that the work of art can change, paintings in particular.
| can imagine that in 100 or 200 years the white of your paintings
will be yellowish or the surfaces cracked. Are these changes that you
accept, or would you then say the artwork is destroyed?

LU: I have two answers for that. One is that the work has a social
responsibility. For this reason, | try to make strong work that
lasts. Second and more importantly, | do not mind so much that
my works will slowly break down and ‘die’. Man is always trying
to ensure that human-made things exist, or‘live on’ forever. But,
nature always works to break them down and return them to
their original elements. Thus we could say nature and humans
are fighting. | have a social responsibility and that is why | should
be firm about my work, but, no matter how much we take care
of it, it will be break up and disappear someday. | am going to
die and when | die, my work will also die. Between humans and
nature there exists a kind of fight.
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FHENEENHDE T ZFOEENHZIH 5. HEDENLZLE
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KDJ: When you say that an artwork can die and the work is
about an encounter, when would you say the work is dead? Is it
dead when it cannot‘speak’anymore, when the encounter is no
longer possible anymore?

LU: Firstofall,| was bornin Asia and | received an Asian education.
Asians have words like ‘everything is transient’ (G&1T#EE). Asia
is a monsoon region: we have a lot of rain, and for that reason
everything erodes quickly. We are very conscious of erosion.
With art it is the same. We create wonderful things in our life, but
it is just for a moment; it does not have a guarantee of continu-
ance. Artists are greedy, and we are always trying to preserve as
much as possible, but this has limits and eventually comes to
an end. Westerners made buildings with stones, like pyramids,
to prevent them from collapsing. When you think of ‘eternity,
your image for this concept is unending. In Japanese culture,
‘everything is transient’ (FE{T#&E): made from soil and wood;
everything will break down. We see infinity as something slowly
disappearing. You see infinity as the existence of things going
on forever, but we see infinity as the disappearing of things.
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LU: ZNEEST—IcEDT I T TEENEBEBICE>TTIT
AEWSDORTHETEE 1 ENVNBVWEESTVWETI ZIYTA
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PL: I have a question about the Japanese art movement Mono-ha
in the 60s, in particular concerning Nobuo Sekine and his famous
work, Mother Earth. Why do you think it was so important for
Japanese artists at that time? For many artists it was the starting
point. Was it a starting point for you as well, or did you, at that time,
already have your concept about art?

LU: Nobuo Sekine is my friend. His work has changed over time,
but around the time he made Mother Earth, people did not show
any interest in his work and our art. | wrote many times about
that work. | tried very hard to explain it. | brought up questions
about the meaning of the work, and by doing so, Mother Earth
became well known, as did our names. That work also shows
both sides: the ‘creating’ and ‘non-creating’ part. In fact, the work
was just soil dug out from a hole and then put beside the hole
in the ground: that was all. After the exhibition, the soil was put
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back into the hole, and the work disappeared. We knew from the
beginning, that it would not be permanently exhibited, just for
a short period of time. There was existence and non-existence,
creation and non-creation, we could see both aspects. It was a
very important work.

LU: B ERIFEORKATI EALARIZ. EENEDL>TT
TFEUTc. FDUEE, "Mother Earthy DX SRIEREE->TWE
Z I BHEDAABDEDERF B> TcATI 1,

EIZ. ZDERICOVWTEEZ. BEFRZVWBWB/ESZ&Z2LIEDT
IHFNICED EATAEFDIEEDBRAICED EfeED4
BN DU D DHEBLSICESTEATIT . HDIERE EDIEEE
S5RWCE MAZ R ERESBAEEL ol DEDRMZEIE ST,
BICBEWLLET T NS BRERDERIBES5FNZIESD
TIHELLTURWEK U o ZNIEIO NS0 > TWeZ ETE 9K
AICRET 2D TIFLRLL L ENF—RBIZEDDHD MMM ES T
MEISTEDBDLDEHRNEFINSHBIEE BV EED
EEESBWCE ZFOMENRZAZIET. HIIE. TKKRER
AELEBVET,

KDJ: Soon | will interview Giuseppe Penone. | have noticed that
your work seems to display similarities to his and | believe the two
of you are good friends. What do you think makes your art different
from that of Penone?

LU: Giuseppe Penone is an artist from Italy. On the surface we are
totally different, but we have a common theme in our work. His
metaphor is in the use of wood: through the very use of wood
itself he gives a message. The object itself is not so important in
his work. When | see his work, | can see the forest and ordinary
trees. | can link the outside world, such as the woods, to his work.
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Similarly when you see a stone in my work you can link it with
stones from outside in nature. Thus, we have similarities in the
point of recalling the relation with the outside world. Richard
Long uses stone, Richard Serra uses steel plates, we use the same
materials, but we went different ways.

W: Yat7 R/ —REWSAF)—DT7—T1ANTI . REMN
ICIEERIEEREBOATIN  HBENHDE I HDOXT T 7—
FAZFATZIEBATI AZFIALUCIRABAY E—V %
MRIATT ITNE ATV VM EERATIIBLBEDEREZR
BEHFEENALDORERZENTE RDIERZELT A
DERPWBAEYZE ) VI IBBEDHEDEZ LV NIE-S
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TWEITH RBAEWTEZAMEIK BEVEWVNET,

KDJ: | think Penone is also about encounter, but he seems to use
touch as the primary means to connect with the ‘other’ For you
the encounter seems to be more about a visual or conceptual
encounter. Or would you say an encounter for you is also about
touching an object?

LU: Many people want to touch my works. | am fine when people
touch the stone and steel plate works but I am not pleased when
people touch my paintings, because of dirt. For me it is important to
create the feeling of wanting to touch. Actually, Penone has thought
a great deal about the sense of touch; he uses wood to communicate
sensations that question what has happened. That is not of primary
importance for me. A kind of metamorphosis or a metaphor, that
which excites the imagination; that is important to me.

38

LU: EOERIIGGESEZBED N DAL VWATT K, 3%
WP EDIZEFHS>THEVWWIREDZSIIMSNDEFENDD
THRZEENHIATTITNE D MDIRBZEVNSIENKE
BATINR/ —RIE KRBV F U TICDWTIKRELEZT
WBATTITNES  EEARZESDT. ESBR>TVWBALLSS,
WBEWBTRWED BN THTK BB LIBRIENHBIAEITNE
H.FOWSCENEICKERATIFRS T —TEDXYEIL- T
—EFEVWSHIXYT7—E LT WBWBREGREREITHEN
STENKERATY,

PL: In our first interview we talked about Jacques Derrida. You said
that on the one hand you were very interested in his philosophy,
but that, on the other hand, you think that he covers everything up
with words. What's wrong with that?

LU: I think, Jacques Derrida is a fantastic philosopher, but | felt
he was living in the ‘sea of words’ (language). According to him,
only words are acceptable, so without writing, things do not
exist. He tried to perceive everything through words, and that is
not such a good thing.

I'll give an example: Buddha showed his disciple a lotus flower,
then his disciple smiled. By seeing his smile, Buddha saw that he
understood. That kind of communication also exists. They did not
use any words; they understood each other without words; they
could connect.

LU: v - FUSFEIERBESUVWEZEELERSITNE . HEDIC
BRBIEFEEDBICEATVWSLSBRED T, SELMILEHE
MEBOSNTWREWEDREFELRW.RKIFSELITTEHEER
£2ETB . FNFBE L2 ERB,
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Listening to Lee Ufan speaking Japanese, hearing the sounds
that came out of his mouth and seeing him making hand
movements... It was fantastic to observe him. Although | did
not understand anything of it, from a human perspective it was
very clear to me that Lee Ufan is a good human being, very
warm and open to others.

Around the end of the interview Yuko asked Lee Ufan who his
favorite artist is. Lee Ufan named On Kawara. The past two years
| had been working on the project ON KAWARA: UNANSWERED
QUESTIONS, a project that existed in collecting questions for On
Kawara from people from all over the world who know the artist
personally or know his work very well. Yuko knew this. From the
smile on her face, | knew good news was coming my way. Yuko
translated her conversation into English. Immediately | was
completely alert: | had to get Lee Ufan into my project!

| tried to explain Lee Ufan the project and asked him, begged him
for a question. He smiled. He did not give me a question, not yet.
Lee Ufan started saying that On Kawara has a studio around the
block, just a one-minute walk from his. We were all curious: was On
Kawara in Paris at the moment?

Unfortunately he was not.

But Lee Ufan told us things: how he often met On Kawara, that he
really respects On Kawara, that they drink tea together and have
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discussions about art. Lee Ufan explained that he was sometimes
also critical about On Kawara’s art. Then came his question:

BEHRFEBNBOTLLSDMFICI L DO HFI(E
WA BZERFEZZDTIABEAIFESBONET DY

I was so happy with Lee Ufan’s participation in my project, that | did
not really know how to act and thanked him with a combination of
bows and “thank you'’s

".We continued the conversation.

After one and a half hours, the interview was over. When we
started packing our things, Lee Ufan left for a moment to the
‘kitchen’. We took the opportunity to look around the studio, to
the canvasses that were leaning against the wall.

After some time, Lee Ufan returned with three catalogues. It was
the book that | so badly wanted to have! The one | saw lying in the
Biennale bookshop at the Giardini last year and could not afford to
buy. In one year’s time, my life had changed so drastically, that now
| got the book from Lee Ufan himself. | asked him for a signature. He
sat down and took his time. He was quiet during the signing. Mine,
he signed in Roman letters; Yuko's catalogue, in Japanese kaniji.

When he had finished, we exchanged business cards and spoke about
our project PERSONAL STRUCTURES: TIME - SPACE - EXISTENCE. We
showed him the preliminary cover of the book, which Lodermeyer
had taken with him from Germany. It was nice to see how Lee Ufan
carefully checked all the names, pointing to some that he did not
know, from others—quite many—he said they are his friends.

A little later, he showed us his brushes and told us about the
grinding of stones to make pigment. | was happy to be there
together with Lee Ufan, Yuko and Lodermeyer in Lee Ufan’s
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studio. It was great sharing time together. But it was time to go.
It was a strange goodbye: | did not want to leave and | had the
feeling that Lodermeyer, Yuko and even Lee Ufan himself felt
sad that the meeting was over. | thought about inviting Lee Ufan
for dinner, but mainly out of a lack of ‘human experience | was
not sure whether | should and let it go. We said goodbye.

Feeling full and empty at the same time, we left Lee Ufan. The three
of us walked next to each other without saying a word. Although |
did not know what to say, | did not want to be alone either. It must
have been around 5pm and we decided to go for a drink togetherin
another part of Paris. | was exhausted. It was one of these moments
where | had been looking forward to and experienced with great
pleasure, but at the same time had to give my maximum to keep
up a good conversation with Lee Ufan and to contribute in making
it a success. Now it had come to an end.

We found a nice café close to the Centre Pompidou. Although it
was much cheaper to order our drinks at the bar and it was only
1m away from me (I could have practically stuck my arm out and
just take it), we ordered 3 large beers with the waitress. We were
just that exhausted—for a Dutchman this means something... Ata
certain moment, the conversation broke loose again and for hours
we discussed everything that had happened, trying to understand
what Lee Ufan had told us about his work. Three individuals,
experiencing the same situation together, but all having a very
different view. Again, a real encounter.

16 JANUARY 2009
MIAMI, USA
SARAH GOLD

Because we really appreciated the sincerity of Lee Ufan we pursued
the possibility to conduct an additional interview. For the first live,
life meeting with Lee Ufan | was not in Europe. Peter Lodermeyer
and Karlyn went to Paris to meet the artist at his studio, and with the
help of Yuko Sakurai to translate; they would conduct the interview
in English/Japanese.

When | later saw the photos made during this meeting, to me Lee
Ufan looked like a friendly older man, clearly Asian, serious but often
also with a big smile, focused on the conversation, making gesturesin
order to emphasize his words. Apart from traveling through Thailand
for a month when | was a lot less experienced in life, and living in
Tokyo for one month the year before because of the symposium we
organized about Existence, | did not experience many Asians and
have little “insight”in their way of being and their different behavior;
but Lee Ufan looked accessible.
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31 JANUARY 2009
MIAMI, USA
KARLYN DE JONGH

Some days after the interview with Lee Ufan, | went to Miami
to visit Sarah and Rene there. We were preparing for our
symposium in the New Museum in New York, that would take
place in early April that year. Yuko Sakurai was there as well,
working on the transcription of Lee Ufan’s answers from the
interview. We decided that | would send her the questions in
English. Peter Lodermeyer and | had prepared some questions
beforehand, but the ones we had eventually asked were differ-
ent and in a certain sequence that forced me to listen to the
audio recordings of the interview. It was impressive for me to
hear Lee Ufan’s voice again. Still, | couldn't understand anything.
But it was interesting to listen to the Japanese, without having
the visual impact of Lee Ufan sitting in his studio, without being
there in the ‘moment; just listening in a relaxed way at a Miami
Beach apartment overlooking the turquoise Atlantic Ocean with
some pelicans flying over.

Since my experience of participating in Hermann Nitsch’s 730.
Aktion in May 2010, | am trying to experience the world around
me using all my senses. At that time, however, besides ‘taste’and
‘touch; | was usually mainly focussed on ‘looking; often not pay-
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ing much attention to my other senses, unless strong sounds
or smells were impossible not to notice. The interview with Lee
Ufan had been a very intense moment and looking back to the
event of meeting him two weeks ago came with different emo-
tions. Listening to the recordings, it was relatively easy to have a
neutral approach to the interview. Listening to the sound of Lee
Ufan’s voice, included all my visual impressions of that moment
in Paris. The sound brought me back to his studio and the chair
in the corner that | was sitting on during our meeting. But al-
though | could depict the situation in Paris as | had experienced
it, it was possible to experience Lee Ufan’s voice in a new, fresh
way—as to‘how’| experienced him, | do not really remember.

But not only Lee Ufan, also listening to myself | had a relatively
neutral experience. Since | started working with Rene and Sarah,
my life had gotten a very different speed. Especially the honest
and open conversations with Rene have influenced me in great
extent. | was developing my character and my experience in life
was growing day by day, with large steps. | learned so much each
day, that a week already seemed enough to change my position
towards a certain topic and to live this opinion as if it had always
been like that. Listening to a tape of something that happened
two weeks ago, hearing also my own voice, was like an encoun-
ter with a different person. | knew it was me, but ‘I’ felt different
and very far away, even though | was quite happy with my own
questions. Although, | still did not know what Lee Ufan had ac-
tually said and all my information was secondhand, | felt | began
to understand more and more about the art of encounter.

18 FEBRUARY 2009
PACE WILDENSTEIN, NEW YORK, USA
KARLYN DE JONGH

In February, we had an appointment at the New Museum in New
Yorkin preparation for our symposium in April that year as well as
meetings with Lawrence Weiner, Robert Barry and my interview
with Peter Halley. Because the four of us would go together, we
decided to drive all the way from Miami to New York. It became a
memorable trip. It was here in the car, somewhere in the middle
of nowhere between South Carolina and Philadelphia that we
decided to make this series of special edition books: PERSONAL
STRUCTURES ART PROJECTS.

Just like the idea for HERMANN NITSCH: UNDER MY SKIN, the
idea for a project with Lee Ufan came easily: “Encounters’, to
collect as many encounters as possible, with Lee Ufan himself,
with his work, with his thoughts... At that time, we planned the
project differently. Instead of Sarah, somebody else would be
writing the book together with me. Because this other person
was much older than | and | assumed he had already had many
encounters, at least with Lee Ufan’s work, it was time to catch up
quickly. | started immediately.

The few days in New York were packed with appointments. At the
New Museum, of course. On Tuesday we met Robert Barry at ‘le Pain
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Quotidien, where we had one of his favorite almond croissants. And
the next day we visited Lawrence Weiner at his studio, a meeting that
resulted in an idea for PSAP #01. After meeting Lawrence it was only
3.45pm. | had some time left. | knew Thursday would be impossible,
because of my interview with Peter Halley and on Friday we would
be driving back to Miami. So, it was my one and only possibility.

| called the gallery that at that time was still called “Pace
Wildenstein’, to ask if it would be possible to visit them and see
some works by Lee Ufan. Half an hour later, Yuko Sakurai and | were
at 32 East 57 Street for a meeting with one of Pace’s directors, a
young and nice, very handsome, real American guy who seemed
a little nervous. It might sound stupid, but it was only in that mo-
ment that | realized that for him | was a potential client—but if
someone would have described the situation to me as the start of
a porn movie, | would also have believed it. He invited us into the
‘sales room’ for our ‘private viewing' This was much more serious
than | had imagined this visit to be. So far, | had always been on
the ‘uncommercial’ side of the art world and still the financial
side of it is for me a ‘necessary evil. Until that moment at Pace
Wildenstein, | had never done anything like this before.

When | entered the space, there was already one painting standing
on an ingenious ‘carrier. | was a little uncomfortable with this
situation. On the one hand | enjoyed it very much: an interest-
ing new experience, starting this new Art Project, which would
be published, seeing a painting by Lee Ufan, and—I am sorry to
say—but | do like being pampered like this. On the other hand, |
did not want to cause him so much trouble, especially for 'no rea-
son at all' Of course, | understand very well that they did their
maximum best—I| would have done the same. But | knew | was
taking advantage of the situation; | was just there for an encounter.
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The salesman offered us something to drink. While pouring
some glasses with water, he asked me “what | do”. | explained
that | am a curator, but that unfortunately | could not tell him
the reason of my visit yet. | felt quite guilty, letting him work like
this for me, for an encounter with Lee Ufan’s work for a book of
which the idea was only three days old... He said he accepted
my secrecy and started listing some works that he would have
available to see, while pointing to some images in their cata-
logue: “I have two pieces that are in this size, | have two in that
size, | have a smaller triptych and then | have a couple of larger
ones in my warehouse. Unfortunately, we can only get up to a
certain size into this building. | have two in the warehouse that
are 2 and a quarter meters tall and—what is this?—1m80 wide.
| do not know what you are looking for?”

Neither did I... | was not looking for anything. | just wanted
to see some works and | did not want to make it complicated
for him. However: | did want to see a large variety of things—
when you are there, you had better make the most out of it! So,
| asked for a painting, a drawing and hoped there was a chance
to see a sculpture somewhere. “Well, the large paintings are in
the warehouse and the sculptures you can see here in the cata-
logue... Some of the sculptures are available”

Two men carried in another painting and placed it on the ‘carrier.
| complimented him on the system.”Yeah, it’s an oldie, but a goody”’
He continued flipping through the catalogue, commenting on the
sculpture, saying that they are actually all available and that they did
sell some that were not in “the show”. He gave me the prices for the
two paintings in the room and glued some Post-its in the catalogue
for the prices of some other works. Both paintings in the room were
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titled Dialogue, 2008, one with one brushstroke, the other with two,
each work was 162 x 130,6 cm. “Are you doing a show?” he ‘casually’
asked, “Are you looking for a client?” | felt very guilty, but did not give
in. He laughed with a sound of desperation in his voice.

I got up from the couch to look at the paintings more closely, and
hoping to better concentrate on them. They were beautiful, compa-
rable to the ones | saw in Lee Ufan’s studio one month before, but
smaller. Unfortunately, | could not really focus on the paintings. For
me, it was too uncomfortable being there in the space, having the
feeling that my every move was being watched by this salesperson.

Instead | chose to focus on this young man and asked him some
questions about his relation to Lee Ufan and what he thought
of the paintings. He said he liked Lee Ufan’s work a lot and that
he was very easy to work with and illustrated this with examples
of when he was working with Lee Ufan for an exhibition at Pace
Wildenstein just a few weeks ago. He also told me that the gallery
had to collect stones for one of Lee Ufan’s sculptures. The stones
were brought to the warehouse, where Lee Ufan was allowed to
choose from this collection the ones which he liked most and
wanted to use for the work Relatum-Expansion Place, 2008.

With regard to the paintings, he said that in his opinion, Lee Ufan
was between Agnes Martin and Robert Ryman. From what he was
saying, | was not sure whether he understood what Lee Ufan is
about. At least he never mentioned the word encounter and in my
opinion, he lacked the sensitivity and openness that to me seemed
necessary to appreciate Lee Ufan. After maybe half an hour, it had
been enough and | left the gallery carrying two catalogues.



26 MAY 2009
HYDE PARK, LONDON, UK
KARLYN DE JONGH

On 26 May 2009, | had my interview with Tatsuo Miyajima. | was in
London, as the meeting was at Lisson Gallery. Yuko Sakurai joined
me for taking photos and for the necessary translations. It was an
impressive 2-hour meeting. After the interview, Yuko and | went to
Hyde Park to relax before continuing our travels. That night | would
fly to Disseldorf, Germany, for the opening of the ZERO foundation.
| believe, Yuko went to Paris. At least, she had a chance to meet Lee
Ufan somewhere and we decided it might be good if | would ask
Lee Ufan a few more questions. There was only a small chance that
we would use them for our publication personal structures time
space existence, but it would at least be an encounter for this book.
There, in Hyde Park, | tried formulating questions for Lee Ufan. It
was difficult. We were sitting on the grass and | remember that | felt
pressured because of the deadline: | had to come up with questions
NOW. | was tired and my mind was somewhere between my meet-
ing with Miyajima and the next interview with Otto Piene a few
days later. Occupied by other interviews, | could not really concen-
trate on Lee Ufan. Besides, Yuko was still working on the translation
of the interview in January and basically, | still did not know how
Lee Ufan had answered my previous questions. Normally, you can
use the knowledge that you have about other artists for an inter-
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view. It should not be so difficult to come up with a question, but for
some reason at that moment | could not do it. | forced myself into
writing down 5 questions, but they were no good. | was so ashamed
of these questions, that | did not dare to look into them.

Today, 22 January 2012, almost 3 years later, is really the first time |
see them again. But, like Lee Ufan, | feel | have to be honest about
the encounters that | had, | have to be honest about myself and my
capabilities at that point in time. And the fact is that at that moment
in my life when | was writing these questions in Hyde Park, | was not
open. | did not look with an open mind at Lee Ufan. | was focused
on his words, not on his work. | tried to understand what he was
saying, but took it mainly from my own point of view. | was not
curious enough about “otherness”. In a way, | was trying to fit Lee
Ufan in a certain context, not opening up for what the other person
had to say, but at the same time sticking to his words. | mean: |
was interpreting his words from my own perspective, from the
‘knowledge’l had. I did not communicate honestly with myself; | did
not go against my own thoughts. It was not meant in a bad way. At
the same time, | was thinking about Lee Ufan and trying to imagine
what he would like, instead of seeing myself as a different entity
with my own thoughts an questions about life that by meeting with
those of Lee Ufan could result in an interesting conversation. From
hindsight, | think that it was the result of having too much respect
in combination with the idea that‘l probably understand what he
means. At that time, whenever | met a new person for whom | had
a lot of respect, | was incapable of having an open encounter. The
respect created a barrier which made it impossible to decrease
the distance between myself and that other person. Over the past
years, | have changed a lot. Because of the active confrontation
with Hermann Nitsch, Roman Opalka and especially Arnulf Rainer,
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| learned to see inside the other human, staying flexible and taking
and enjoying the‘other’as he is.

Lee Ufan took the time to answer my questions. He would give us
his handwritten answers in Japanese a few days later in Venice,
on a small piece of paper. Some time later, Yuko would give me a
basic translation. The answers were very honest. Lee Ufan saw me
exactly how | was at that time and was upfront about it. The way |
was at that time, was the exact opposite of what Lee Ufan stands
for. I was like a dust ball, keeping all the used and unused language
with me, never having a fresh and open encounter. From the five
questions, | had given him: he answered four by telling me this. The
last question he might have liked. Here it is:

You mentioned that the body is in between inside and outside.
Would you describe it as a membrane for experience—also of art—
influenced by our inside and outside situation?

FEIE FLDEDTIFRHRD—EBRDTY, £2CEMEMR
ATV EMEMR I AEBENTDENIETH . FFICEDESR
F AT IRELT L TWBD TG AN EDBEFRER
{EDTH B DS MERIF. —ANICX Yy E—I %KD HDTIE
BRI FEZSZ D . ZIT-DI2MEEZFOHD
TRIFNIEBSRR,

The body is not mine; it is part of the world. It is like the artwork.
The artwork is like an intermediate section between inside and
outside. Especially my work, it opens the relationship with my
surrounding, it is not closed. That’s why an artwork has to have
ambiguity, a giving and receiving of influence and stimulation, it is
not unilaterally sending out a message.



4 JUNE 2009

PALAZZO CAVALLI FRANCHETTI,
VENICE, ITALY

KARLYN DE JONGH

These were the opening days of the Venice Biennale. | was living
in Vienna at the time, but visiting Sarah and Rene in Venice, where
we were working hard to finish our book PERSONAL STRUCTURES:
TIME - SPACE - EXISTENCE. They were busy times, with so many
artists now in our ‘home town’ that we took every opportunity to
meet as many as possible and take as much out of them for our
project—photos, interviews etc. We had also planned a symposium
at Palazzo Cavalli Franchetti, next to Academia Bridge. There were
hardly any visitors, but the speakers were fantastic, especially
Marina Abramovié. To sit next to this power-woman and be able to
ask her questions... What an experience!

After the symposium, there was a reception going on in the garden
of the Palazzo. The reception was mainly planned for the visitors
to the Glass exhibition that was at the first floor. We ate and drank
something in the garden, where a work by Dan Graham was
prominently placed in the grass. For the interview section in our
book, we still needed an introduction photo and Rene came with
the idea to make a photo using this installation. Lodermeyer and |
stood inside, talking about Liam Gillick who | was supposed to meet
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that evening at the opening of the German Pavilion. Sarah stood
outside. When we were done, we collected our voice recordings
and finished everything properly in the Palazzo. At 4:10pm, we
wanted to go home.

Rene and Sarah waited at the exit, while | picked up some bags that
we left in the garden. | squatted to pick up my bag from the floor...
Still halfway between squatting and standing, | looked up. All of a
sudden, | was face to face with Lee Ufan.“Lee Ufan!”| cried out with
great surprise. We bowed and shook hands. | was a little confused
by this sudden encounter, but we greeted each other heartily. He
now spoke English. After hearing Lee Ufan speak Japanese all the
time, | had forgotten about his ability to speak English. It was a
great pleasure to have a direct conversation with him, without an
interpreter. We chatted about his schedule for the next few days,
about the weather, about where he was staying and fixed the
appointment we had already planned for the following morning:
9.40am at Hotel Monaco. Sarah and Rene came to check what was
going on. They had never met Lee Ufan and did not know what he
looked like. To be honest, | do not remember whether or not they
actually got introduced to each other. | think there was a moment
where we were standing in a group of six, the four of us and Lee
Ufan with a very beautiful Asian woman, but | am not sure anymore.

After a few minutes, we said goodbye. Lee Ufan was with a young
woman and they had to leave. This had been such a surprise!
Because | had already scheduled an appointment with Lee Ufan for
the next morning, this felt like an ‘extra’. To meet Lee Ufan in Venice
just like that, was very special.

Slowly, we walked to the front entrance of the Palazzo and stayed
there some time, discussing the schedule for the rest of the day.
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We had the opening of Rene’s Biennale exhibition, | had to meet
Liam Gillick and at a certain point we were supposed to visit Joseph
Kosuth. Peter Halley also called for an appointment and there were
other meetings regarding our symposium that was planned for the
next day, with Anish Kapoor, Roman Opalka and Tatsuo Miyajima.

We were in the middle of this discussion, when—fifteen minutes
after we had said goodbye—Lee Ufan suddenly returned. We all
became quiet, instantly. Lee Ufan now came from the side entrance
of the Palazzo, where there is a nice cast-iron gate. It looked as if he
was lost and did not realize he had passed that part only minutes
before. He also did not seem to realize that we were standing there.
Rather he focused on some people who were installing a sculpture,
unwrapping it and taking it off a pallet. He seemed intrigued by
this spectacle and circled around it for a few minutes. Then he
walked away through the fence.



4 JUNE 2009
VENICE, ITALY
SARAH GOLD

In order to have a base in Europe to work on completing our
publication PERSONAL STRUCTURES: TIME - SPACE - EXISTENCE,
Rene Rietmeyer and | had decided to move to Venice in May
2009. At the same time, Rene was invited to participate at the
531 Biennale exhibition Glasstress at Palazzo Cavalli Franchetti, a
beautiful Venetian Gothic building, located next to the Academia
Bridge. We had organized a small symposium where also Marina
Abramovi¢ had spoken.

I think still impressed by the sheer power of this woman and
being told that Lee Ufan was standing 30 meters away from us,
seeing him for the first time in reality, Lee Ufan made a fragile
impression. He was accompanied by a good looking, younger
Asian woman. Was that his wife? Yuko Sakurai had approached
him to meet us, but he had declined. What was the reason he did
not want to meet us? Was he too shy? Or were we too “brutally
western”? Although | knew that Lee Ufan is by origin Korean—of
which | had no experience at that moment—, most of his adult
life he has spent in Japan. Having a little Japan experience, it
seems that for them our behavior is often too barbaric and direct.
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5 JUNE 2009
HOTEL MONACO, VENICE, ITALY
KARLYN DE JONGH

Around 8am, Yuko Sakurai and | left our apartment in Murano to
be in time for our meeting with Lee Ufan. Before 9.40am we were
in Hotel Monaco, close to San Marco Square in Venice. It was only
a short meeting, maximum ten minutes. Lee Ufan had answered
my questions—the ones | made in London, a few days earlier. We
would meet to pick up the paper with his handwritten answers.

We were early and waited in the lobby for his arrival. It was
interesting to see Lee Ufan again, when he came walking in the
lobby: this fragile-looking Asian body in a big, quite modern space.
Especially after having seen him the day before and having so
many meetings with other artists, it almost became ‘normal’ to pay
him a quick visit.

When Lee Ufan came, he immediately apologized saying that he
had another meeting right after. He gave Yuko the little yellow
paper with Japanese characters on it, saying something to her
that | could not understand. | watched Lee Ufan while they were
speaking. He seemed tired. | thanked Lee Ufan for taking the time
to answer my questions. We continued chatting about his program
for today, while Yuko took some photos of us and portraits of Lee
Ufan alone. A moment later, we were done and said goodbye.

63



19 SEPTEMBER 2009
RIVA LONGA 17B, VENICE, ITALY
KARLYN DE JONGH

The last days before the printing of our book PERSONAL
STRUCTURES: TIME - SPACE - EXISTENCE. It was September and for
the past month Rene and | had been working together day and
night to finish our book. | woke up at 6:45am, from the shouting in
the room next to me. Amongst other things, Lodermeyer and Rene
seemed to be fighting about the translation of Lee Ufan’s interview,
not about the content, but about whether or not it should be
written in what we call “Shakespeare English”.

First | stayed in bed: | hate fights and did not want to have anything
to do with this negativity. Then | realized Lodermeyer would
soon be leaving to return to Germany. | wanted to say goodbye
to him and so | decided to join the group. It took a long time, the
discussion—or maybe that was only my experience. Rene and
Yuko had done their maximum best for this translation. It had
been very difficult. In the beginning of August, | had done some
basic corrections on the translation myself and already with these
grammar and spelling changes | had a lot of difficulties: it requires a
full understanding, openness, and the will and capacity to imagine
what the other person is trying to say without taking in your own
thoughts, but at the same time expressing these thoughts in ‘your

65



own’ words... The discussion was long and—in my opinion—
useless. But once again it was made obvious, how difficult it can be
to be open-minded and just let things be.

In the evening, | was writing introductions about the artists in
our book, Rene and Yuko were checking the last things in the
translation of the Lee Ufan interview as if nothing had happened
that morning. | listened with one ear while focusing on my own
work. Suddenly | realized the openness in my character that |
had developed in the past months. | had changed. Again hearing
the discussion about ‘Dialogue; now in a slow way between two
people who were neutrally and very seriously checking each word,
| wondered the extent to which Lee Ufan had influenced me. More
and more | understood the effect Lee Ufan has on my life.

1 -5 OCTOBER 2009
OBERLIMBERG, GERMANY
KARLYN DE JONGH

The story around Lee Ufan’s interviews had not come to an end yet.
The entire discussion is not our ‘finest hour’ and | am not even sure
if it can count as an ‘Encounter with Lee Ufan, but at the time of
writing, | feel there is one important aspect in the story that gives an
insight in Lee Ufan.

From 1 to 5 October, | was in Oberlimberg, a tiny village in Germany.
It was the weekend before the printing of our book. Sarah and
Rene had already gone back to Venice, because of a meeting with
a collector. | stayed to finish and oversee the printing of the book.
Lodermeyer came to visit these days to help me proofreading all
texts for a final check before publishing. In the first hour after his
arrival until the very moment before the last metal plate went on
the press, the Lee Ufan interviews were the point of discussion. But
I let it go and let him sort it out with Yuko, who was there as well.
Lee Ufan had 12 pages in our book; there were 436 other pages
that needed to be finished proofreading before Monday morning
8 o'clock. Plus: for as far as | could judge, the translation was very
good, just no Shakespeare English. It was readable for everybody
with an average understanding of the English language, without a
dictionary on the side. Lee Ufan himself was fine with the text and
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had given his approval for its publication. Although we normally
publish anything, for many different reasons, we decided not to
publish the part about’Dialogue’in our January 2009 interview and
took it out. Lee Ufan had been fine with the text either way. He had
commented that he did not like the section about’Dialogue’either,
but for him it was part of the encounter and so he let it be: this was
the way it was.

2 DECEMBER 2009
FLIGHT VENICE - LONDON
KARLYN DE JONGH

After the printing of our book and a visit to New York, | went to
London. It was mainly a pleasure trip, since there was no real,
logical reason for me to go there. | had a meeting with Antony
Gormley about an article for Sculpture Magazine and there was
an exhibition of Tatsuo Miyajima’s Pile Up Life at Lisson gallery
that | wanted to review for another magazine. But that was all:
just some nice relax things. Now the book was published, there
was the possibility to focus again on other things and my project
with Lee Ufan was one of them. Since | was planning to go to
Lisson gallery anyway, | had called them to ask if it would be
possible to see some works of Lee Ufan. On the phone, they did
not ask me ‘why’and | did not tell.

My flight from Venice to London was at 5pm. During the flight, |
read a book about Lee Ufan in preparation for my new encounter
on that coming Friday, 4 December. Because it was light, |
brought the book | had received from Pace Wildenstein. It was the
catalogue from an exhibition one year ago. It can be opened from
two sides. Maybe | am completely missing the point, but for me
this system felt like a‘gimmick’and did not seem to fit to Lee Ufan.
Anyway, | started with the gray-colored side. After the title page
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there is a photo from Lee Ufan sitting on a stone, surrounded by
metal plates, stones and split, on the background is the forest
with for me unusual types of trees. Seeing Lee Ufan sitting on that
stone, his hands on his knees, staring into the camera, felt strange
to me. It is not like the friendly, smiling man | met in Paris and
Venice. It was like a pose, it did not seem natural to me, especially
in comparison to his sculptures. | wondered what he was thinking
during the time he was doing his exhibition and publication for
this gallery. For both parties, it must have been an interesting
encounter between different cultures.

On the next page is a detail of a brush stroke, cut over two pages.
Also the top is cut off. The brushstroke seemed broken, incomplete,
like an incomplete encounter. At that moment in the plane, it felt to
me like a lack of respect for Lee Ufan’s encounter with the canvas.
Whether it is or is not, it is perhaps more interesting to question
whether something like a complete encounter exists. Maybe every
encounter is incomplete, like every experience is incomplete. Maybe
the experience as such is a complete experience, but from the
moment you tell someone else about it, or you start writing about
it or visualize it in an artwork, it is incomplete. In the moment, the
time between experiencing and communicating the experience,
certain elements get lost. Now as well: | am trying to write about
my encounter with a book, but the moment of writing is much later
than the actual experience. | do not remember everything anymore.
Even my notes, which | wrote down during the encounter, are only a
very small part of the total. But then again: if | would have instantly
written it down or would have used a voice recorder like in my en-
counter of 26 November 2011 at Palazzo Bembo in Lee Ufan’s Venice
Biennale installation in our PERSONAL STRUCTURES exhibition, |
would also have felt that | was missing something.
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Sometimes, | even have the feeling that | am missing the most
important part of the encounter. Some feelings or experiences
are very difficult to describe and | do not know if—being in the
moment—you can put all your feelings into words.

Naming your feelings forms these feelings and give them a direction
which excludes other options. Wittgenstein would probably not
agree, but dealing with my encounters, encountering Lee Ufan, |
have often experienced certain feelings that | could not formulate
and for me, these feelings do exist. They are there. They remain very
personal, because | cannot communicate them and probably they
will get lost over time, because | will forget.

Maybe for someone reading my texts now and having a distance,
it is very easy to see. But for me... | keep having the feeling of not
being able to say what it was ‘really’ like. | can write about the main
elements of the situation. | can write about certain feelings and
experiences. But still | feel | am missing the ability to communicate
something that is essential and that maybe | can best describe as a
confrontation that ‘l do not know”. When | would have to describe
very generally what is the feeling | had in every encounter in this
book, it is this experience that’l do not know".

It may sound strange (and contradictory), but at other moments |
have the feeling that this confrontation with‘l do not know'is exactly
what the encounter is all about. Maybe the acknowledgment
that you do not know is the start from which you would have to
continue experiencing, experiencing who is this ‘l, who or what is
the‘other’and how these two are related.

Another question that | have asked myself is: when does the
experience, the encounter stop? Now that I'm telling about my
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encounter from reading and being in the plane two years ago,
is this current moment not also part of the encounter? Are they
two different moments or should | see them together? Should
my life be seen as the umbrella for or the collection of all the
encounters that | had?

I continue flipping pages in the book. There are images of paintings
with brushstrokes that started from ‘the side’ rather than from ‘the
top’ of the canvas. | wonder how Lee Ufan created these works. He
told me, that he builds a wooden construction over the painting
for him to stand on, bend over—I imagine him standing on this
wooden construction in a perfect 90° angle—and pull the brush
towards him, leaving a mark on the canvas. This is how | have it in
my memory, but that would mean that Lee Ufan would encounter
these particular paintings from the side. So that means: different
from the way that | am looking at it now. Some brushstrokes are
quite long. It probably depends on the length of Lee Ufan’s arms,
what the maximum length of one brush stroke can be. On two
pages, there are still the Post-Its glued on them, with the price
and the work’s usual location—the prices seem appropriate to
me for the artwork it is. They are the works that | had seen at Pace.
Although I am not materialistic, looking at these works the thought
comes up, that it would be nice to own a work by Lee Ufan. Then
you can encounter it every day, confronting yourself every day that
you should encounter with fresh eyes.

The woman from Lisson Gallery that | am supposed to meet for
my encounter there, had sent me two images this morning of the
works that will be installed for me in their viewing room. | was very
pleased receiving them and felt great enthusiasm for this upcoming
meeting. A new encounter, a new possibility to see Lee Ufan...
This morning when looking at the images of Lee Ufan’s works, the
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paintings seemed fresh, lively. However, now | come to think of it:
| was fresh and lively. Do | see only myself? Is how | experience the
work only a projection of the feeling | already had? Do | stick to my
interpretation, to my own thoughts? Or does Lee Ufan have such a
positive effect on me that it influences my way of experiencing?—
which would also indicate an un-fresh encounter... | do not know.

| focus on the book again and start from the other side. Also this
part begins with a photo of Lee Ufan, probably in his studio in
Japan. He is standing on his wooden construction, over a painting
with a brush in his hands, painting. It looked as if the brush was
really touching the canvas. | remember the situation with Roman
Opalka in his studio in France, when Sarah and | wanted to take a
photo of him while painting for our project ROMAN OPALKA: TIME
PASSING. He told us that he never really paints, that he always fakes
it, keeping his brush very close to the canvas. At first, he wanted to
fake it with us as well. Then we convinced him otherwise: we like
things to be real.

Here, seeing Lee Ufan on this photo, it looks as if he is really painting:
the brush seems to be touching the canvas. Looking closely, it
becomes clear that this brushstroke is made up of different layers
of paint. This process of painting seems important to him. Maybe it
is even that what it is all about. But what does that mean? Should
the brushstroke not be one single stroke? One mark saying‘l exist'?
Is aesthetics in the way when you make different layers over each
other? | recently found a video on internet in which | saw Lee Ufan
carefully touching up his brushstroke with a small brush. Maybe
Opalkaisright about Lee Ufan when he told us that for him Lee Ufan
became too aesthetic. Or maybe an encounter exists of different
elements and is this layered brushstroke for Lee Ufan a way to ex-
press this. Unfortunately, these questions only come to me now...
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too late for this book. | have many questions that | wonder about
now that | am writing this book: Would he still be interested in his
paintings after he finished them? | do believe that he wants to
create an awareness in others. Also | wonder: when the moment of
painting, the moment of the encounter is so important, why does
he only date his works with a year? And not with a specific date and
time? Maybe even a location?

Reading the text next to the photo, | think about the possibility of
giving a value judgment in relation to an encounter. Is it possible
to have abad oragood encounter? Oris an encounter always’just’
an encounter? Probably Lee Ufan answered this in an indirect
way when we were dealing with the publication of his interviews.
Probably, you can experience an encounter as good or bad, but
you still have to see it as an encounter: it is the way it was at
that particular moment in time. The ‘art of encounter’ seems like
an ethics, it shows an answer to the question of ‘how to live?'...
I am the encounter. | am, my life is, a sequence of encounters,
a series of experiences. When | encounter something on my
own (a Lee Ufan painting, for example) without the presence of
another person there, | have my experience. For the people who
are reading or listening to my encounter, what comes out of my
mouth or what is standing on this piece of paper, the way | tell it
or write about it, is for them (part of) the encounter. And others
can judge that, including myself.

My thoughts return to Lee Ufan’s reaction to the final questions that
| posed to him last May. Lee Ufan had had an encounter with me
in the way | was that Spring of 2009. His answers to my questions
seemedtoincludeajudgementofthe waylwas.But thisjudgement’
should not be a fixed judgement, it should be a temporary opinion
that needs to be reviewed every time. Like Tatsuo Miyajima told
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me in the interview of 26 May 2009: “Everything keeps changing,
life keeps changing... Even‘keep changing'is constantly changing.
It also has a link with ‘continue forever’ The meaning of forever in
Western theory is ‘permanent’. In fact, the thoughts they have for it
is that forever is unchanged, but my concept of forever is, that as a
matter of fact, even the stages themselves of my concept of forever
change!” If | understand enough of Lee Ufan’s philosophy, also his
opinions and judgements are always changing and | hope that Lee
Ufan is indeed living this philosophy.



4 DECEMBER 2009
LISSON GALLERY, LONDON, UK
KARLYN DE JONGH

Today | was going to Lisson Gallery. | had a meeting at 11. The
person handling all Lee Ufan affairs at that time was abroad; her
assistant welcomed me. Exactly at 11am, she came down the
stairs: a small, smiling young woman. We went next door, to the
warehouse or‘viewing room’. It had nothing of the luxury at Pace
Wildenstein. A large white door. It was cold in there, so | left my
coat on. There were people working, dusting off some artworks.
The space was clean, filled with art. There was no room on the
walls anymore; on the ground were sculptures. There were
especially lots of Anish Kapoors. After turning a corner, | saw
Lee Ufan. All the way at the back. Two paintings were hanging
opposite of each other. On the left side was Correspondance from
2003; on the right, Dialogue from 2007. There was a lot of space
between them. | do not remember exactly, but it must have been
at least 10 to 15 meters of emptiness.

Although the warehouse was full of art, all of a sudden—when
seeing Lee Ufan's works—the space felt empty. It was as if the
paintings swallowed me. | was completely drawn into them.
Before | was chatting with the assistant; now | was completely
silent, for a long time. | was aware of her presence and found |
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had to ask her questions, about her thoughts about Lee Ufan. But
I could not. | was like a statue, just standing there between those
two works. When looking at the one painting, | felt the presence
of the other one in my back. Left of me the assistant was standing.
| felt her looking at me. The paintings were pushing everything
else away. It was interesting for me to realize that these ‘simple’
paintings, ‘just’ a brushstroke on a white surface, have such a
strength that they overpower the bombastic colors of the often
large Kapoors. Although in another situation, they (the Kapoors)
might have been very impressive, now | did not notice these
20-odd works anymore. In the back of my head, | knew that they
were there, but they were almost non-existent, just some vague

colors without importance.

After a certain amount of time, | walked closer, put my bags on
the floor and asked the assistant if | could ask her some questions.
She said, “Yes,” and | asked her why she likes Lee Ufan so much.
She started shining; there was a sparkle in her appearance. “It
gives me peace,’ she said. Then she tells me it was so hard for her
to speak with Lee Ufan, because he hardly speaks any English.
But she remembered he is a “sweet man” with a nice. She met
him during Lee Ufan’s exhibition at Lisson Gallery not so long
ago. And once before, when Lee Ufan had come to the gallery
some months earlier to prepare the exhibition. She brought him
tea. Lee Ufan apparently was sitting in the center of the empty
space, “contemplating”. She did not see the installation of the
show, but apparently Lee Ufan had mainly been supervising
everything, not installing himself. Heavy stones that had to be
carried down the steps to the cellar-room. [Now, at the point of
writing, | know exactly what this means...] l asked her about how
it was for her to see the Lee Ufan exhibition every day, how it was
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for her to encounter the work on a daily basis. She said that some
shows are eventually very boring, that she loses interest in them.
However, Lee Ufan to her was great. She started shining again
and said, “A little bit of peace every time.”

For me, the presence of this woman (and generally: other
people or other objects in the space) was very much part of
the encounter. It gives a feeling of being together. It may sound
strange, but looking at the Lee Ufan paintings together was
even quite intimate to me, and gave a warm, loving feeling. It is
a total experience and not only about the paintings as such. My
attention was shifting between looking at the two paintings and
being there with the assistant. | showed her the pages with Lee
Ufan’s interview in the book that | had brought with me. Also |
told her about the Encounters project. We continued speaking
about the paintings, the brushstroke and the white surface color.

I could not take my eyes off the paintings and kept turning
around to look from the one to the other. At that moment, |
liked the one with two marks, the one from 2003, better. Maybe
because of the color of the paint or because the brushstrokes
seemed more simple, but | have no other reason at this point.
The later painting, with one brushstroke, had a thicker mark.
The top of the brushstroke was at least 2 or 3 mm thick. At that
time, | was not sure how Lee Ufan painted the brushstrokes.
The assistant did not know either, but from the thickness of the
mark on this 2007 painting, | got the feeling that Lee Ufan had
painted another layer with color over a‘base’ | could not imagine
how else he could have done it, with only one stroke—maybe
by starting with a large amount of paint on his brush and softly
pushing this paint up before pulling the brush towards him, but
that seems to turn this ‘mark of existence’into an aesthetic act. In
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any case, it must require a tremendous amount of concentration
and precision to make it like this.

The texture of the surface of the painting seems always very
smooth. It looks like a special paint, which seems quite artificial, not
like the natural ground stone used for the brushstroke—Lee Ufan
had told us about this grinding of stone when we visited him for the
interview in January that year. It is also quite thick and shines a little
too. The sides of the canvas are covered with the same material.
Still very much in our personal structures: time space existence
publication, | think of my interview with Marcia Hafif, who does
not paint the sides, because for her it is about the surface of the
painting. Would Lee Ufan think differently about this? He might like
the continuation inside the rest of the space, that the work or the
encounter does not stop at the end of the canvas.

Time was flying. | had the feeling we were there only for a short
time, but in fact it was 45 minutes. | could probably have looked
longer, but | noticed that my focus was shifting more towards the
presence of the assistant, rather than on Lee Ufan. It was time to
go. We turned around and suddenly the colored objects became
Anish Kapoor artworks again. After locking the door behind us, the
assistant took me to the other gallery location, where Miyajima'’s
Pile Up Life exhibition was. Inside, she gave me the book The Art
of Encounter. After my own experience, | understood exactly the
tremendous amount of work that it must have taken to translate
Lee Ufan's words and was quite impressed by this book. The
Miyajima exhibition was too much for me now. Instead, | went to a
nearby pub to make notes about my encounter.

6 JANUARY 2010
LEE UFAN STUDIO, PARIS, FRANCE
SARAH GOLD

For our upcoming PERSONAL STRUCTURES exhibition at the
Kunstlerhaus in Bregenz, Austria, we decided that we would like
to include a work by Lee Ufan. We arranged that this would be
possible and because Lee Ufan was not in Paris at that moment,
we had to meet with his assistant Mr Moon to collect the painting.
The studio of Lee Ufan is close to the Moulin Rouge and driving
there with a rental bus and little parking possibilities, | remember
the feeling of becoming alive; real life. Because the work was not
crated, Rene Rietmeyer had prepared a wooden frame, in order
to place the large canvas inside. Until now, | had never seen any
work by Lee Ufan in reality. All | knew was that the work was called
Dialogue, which had been created in 2007 and the measurements
were 227 x 182cm. After calling Mr Moon on his mobile he opened
the big gate and we entered the courtyard. The mysterious Mr
Moon turned out to be a friendly Korean man, maybe late thirties,
early forties; he did not speak English, but could speak French with
Rene. He guided us through the courtyard, to the right side of a
building. When we entered, | could see to the left, in frontand to the
right, probably around thirty paintings leaning against the walls of
the studio. They were looking at me as to communicate, “Take me
with you’, but without being unhappy with their present location.
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What paintings: they conveyed curiosity, tranquility, stability and
presence all in one. We took off our shoes and got given slippers,
which were in abundance—as if awaiting a lot of guests—on the
left of the door was the entrance. Now, the moment of truth had
come. Mr Moon pointed to Dialogue and Dialogue looked huge.
My worries about the frame being too small were steering up. We
lay the transport frame on the floor, took the paining which we had
packed before with special foam and carefully but without hesita-
tion, placed it into the wooden structure. It fitted perfectly; what
a reliefl We handled the further packing very professional and
finished with the paperwork, the famous loan forms.

Mr Moon and Rene carried Dialogue out of its safe environment of
the studio over the courtyard, through the gate, crossed a two lane
street, through a small park, again over a two lane street, turned
right, walked for another 100 meters, to finally arrive at our bus.
Mr Moon told us that he is an artist. We gave him as a present our
PERSONAL STRUCTURES: TIME - SPACE - EXISTENCE publication and
told him a little bit about our project. We thanked him for his time
and asked him if his name is really “Moon’, to which he replied, “yes,
like moon’, making a circled movement around his face, which is
really moon-shaped.

6 JANUARY 2010
LEE UFAN STUDIO, PARIS, FRANCE
KARLYN DE JONGH

The opening of our exhibition in Bregenz, Austria, would be on 15
January 2010. Although there had already been many world-wide
exhibitions of the project PERSONAL STRUCTURES, Sarah and |
had never organized a large and complex group-exhibition before
and so, Bregenz was planned as a test for our Venice Biennale
exhibition one year later, in 2011. With 27 participating artists,
700m? of exhibition space, a very limited budget and only four
weeks to prepare (which included Christmas and New Year), it was
a challenge. Through the contacts we had built up thanks to our
book, it was relatively easy to call a number of artists to participate:
Giuseppe Penone, Lawrence Weiner, Arnulf Rainer... Lee Ufan was
also included. | was excited about the presence of Lee Ufan’s work
in our own exhibition and a possible new encounter. Lee Ufan's
assistant, Mr Moon, handled the affairs.

For different reasons, we decided to do the transportation
ourselves, in the sense that we would actually drive 3000km to
pick up most of the artworks. We rented a Hertz van and made a
little tour through Europe.

On 6 January we drove to Paris to meet Mr Moon and pick up a
painting at Lee Ufan’s studio on Boulevard De Clichy. There was
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a lot of traffic in Lee Ufan's street and it was difficult to find a
good parking space. The neighborhood looked very familiar: the
Carrefour where | bought my paprika’s, the bench where we waited,
the door of Lee Ufan’s building. After a few rounds around the
block, we stopped at the gas station near Lee Ufan's studio. From
that position, we could see that Mr Moon was already waiting for
us. He was smoking a cigarette in front of the door to the courtyard.
Rene stayed inside; Sarah and | got out of the van to greet him.

Mr Moon took us to the studio to show us Lee Ufan’s painting. The
interview had made such an impression on me that | could still
draw a picture of the space in my mind. To actually be there again,
was like coming home, in the sense that everything had a history
and felt very much part of my life. The paintings leaning against the
wall, the table we had been sitting at, the posters on the wall, the
little kitchen in the back... At the same time, | knew that it was only
my, maybe unrealistic, perception. The feeling of familiarity | had,
depended in fact on one meeting and Lee Ufan might not even
remember me.

Mr Moon showed us the painting. It was beautiful. An immaculate
white surface with one brushstroke approximately in the horizontal
center, but a little bit down from the middle. In my best French, |
asked Mr Moon if he could help us with the front door, so that Rene
could drive the bus into the courtyard. Luckily, he understood and
rushed away from me. | followed—carefully, because it had been
snowing. He opened the doors to the courtyard, but they were too
narrow for the van.

While Rene parked our van opposite Lee Ufan’s studio on the
other side of the green park that divides the two lanes, Mr Moon
and | went back into the studio. Sarah waited outside. Now, | was
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alone with Mr Moon. With hands and feet and in a combination
of French and Italian, | tried communicating with him. From what
| could detect, Mr Moon, a Korean, did not seem to speak French
very well either. But we seemed to do fine together. From what
| understood, Mr Moon was already working with Lee Ufan for
10 years, as his assistant. He arranges everything for Lee Ufan in
Paris. With a smile on his face, he told me about a secret studio
that Lee Ufan uses to ‘make’ his sculptures and where he himself
works as a sculptor. | wanted to tell him how special it was for me
to be here again. By pointing to the little desk in the corner, | told
Mr Moon that one year ago | sat there during an interview. He
smiled. A second later, Sarah and Rene entered the studio. Rene
introduced himself and asked Mr Moon about his name. With his
finger, he pointed at his face and made a circle: moon-face!

We packed the painting in a frame that Rene had built especially.
It went very easily. Together, we brought the work to our van. Mr
Moon and Rene carrying the painting; Sarah and | stopping traffic,
so that the others could pass quickly. Over the street, crossing the
little park to where our van was. We attached the painting in its
frame to the side of the bus. After Mr Moon signed the loan form,
we drove off. There we went, through the heart of Paris, over the
Champs-Elysées in our rented van with a painting worth a quarter
of a million in the back.



7 JANUARY 2010

TRAVELING THROUGH FRANCE,
GERMANY AND AUSTRIA

SARAH GOLD

Normally when | am traveling with expensive items, | do not feel
comfortable, but now with Lee Ufan in the back of the van | was
not too worried; maybe also because we had picked up another
work by the Japanese artist Toshikatsu Endo. The work by Endo
felt the opposite of Lee Ufan. Endo’s work was Untitled, a sculpture
consisting of 5 pieces of wood, forming a four diameter circle with
copper rings and weighing around 600kg. The wood had been
brutally carved, smeared with tar and then burned. It had been
lost for twenty years and got recovered by the persistence of
Rene Rietmeyer. With quite some physical effort we had dragged
the different parts from a storage, located somewhere in the
centre of Paris, into our rental van. It felt as if it had been sleeping
for twenty years and now it was coming alive, archaic, basic,
waiting to be reassembled into its primal shape. For me it felt as
if Untitled protected the subtle and in comparison fragile work by
Lee Ufan, which was standing in the back. Lee Ufan’s painting had
never been asleep: since its creation, it had been always ready to
communicate. Patiently the works traveled with us, waiting to be
displayed wherever we would bring them.
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8 JANUARY 2010
KUNSTLERHAUS BREGENZ, AUSTRIA
KARLYN DE JONGH

In the morning of 8 January, we started installing our exhibition
in Bregenz, Austria. Since | joined our project PERSONAL
STRUCTURES in 2007, we had organized a few small exhibitions
and some symposia, but to me it felt as if we had spent most of
our time in creating our publication. This feeling is probably not
really correct, but at that time in January 2010 it felt like that to
me. And that means that to me it felt that this exhibition was
one of the first times that | could be part of presenting personal
structures to the outside world. It felt like a turning point and to
me it was a real start.

Unfortunately, the minute we arrived, the only person the museum
had for doing the installation, became ill and would probably not
get better until two days after the opening. We had to do everything
ourselves: Rene, Sarah and I. To get into it, we started with the easy
things: hanging Lee Ufan’s painting. We wanted to have it out of
the way, safely on the wall.

There is not much to say about it. It was only a short moment. We
were busy and so, no quiet moment to contemplate. The painting
was indeed very easy to hang; it did not take us more than fifteen
minutes. But it was for me the first time that | was physically
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‘working’ with a Lee Ufan artwork. | like this physical aspect of
dealing with art. To do that with Lee Ufan, felt great. Also, | had not
often been dealing with such an expensive artwork before. For as
far as | can remember now, the only other time was a work from
Roman Opalka that we exhibited in Amsterdam 3 years earlier. This
made me a little nervous, especially when looking at this clean,
white surface that was almost ‘asking’ for stains...

We measured everything out and hung the painting on a few
screws. | stood on the right-hand side of the work, with my gloves
on, and together with Rene | lifted the painting. It was heavy.
Holding the painting and looking to the side of the work, | noticed
Lee Ufan's signature. Before, | had wondered whether and where
Lee Ufan signed his canvasses.“L. Ufan”it said in Roman letters, and
“top”, with a little arrow that was luckily pointing upward. It looked
cute. Two seconds later we were done. On to the next!

8 JANUARY 2010
KUNSTLERHAUS BREGENZ, AUSTRIA
SARAH GOLD

In the morning we started to unpack the van, dragging Endo out,
leaving him in the snow outside of the museum: after twenty
years he first needed a good scrub. After we brought the big,
red and wild painted Boxes called SHARK VALLEY, USA by Rene
Rietmeyer inside, together with 24 crates containing steal Boxes
called SAARLAND, GERMANY. Finally Dialogue was freed and
after we had carried the work inside, unpacked and hung it,
the painting looked spectacular. What a big white canvas, pure,
powerful, but without being overwhelming in a negative sense.
Now | could see more closely the mark Lee Ufan had placed on
the canvas; his encounter. What was this encounter made of? It
felt natural. Little time | had to think about it all, we had a show
to set up, and for one week we worked morning to night until the
exhibition looked sophisticated, mature and surprising.
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16 JANUARY 2010
KUNSTLERHAUS BREGENZ, AUSTRIA
KARLYN DE JONGH

It was Saturday, one day after the opening of our exhibition in
Bregenz and exactly one year after the interview with Lee Ufan in
Paris. It was a slow day: we had been working very hard the past
week to finish everything in time for the opening and yesterday |
had been going to a disco with the owner of our printing company
in Germany to celebrate the publishing of the first tests of my book
ON KAWARA: UNANSERED QUESTIONS. Still a little dizzy from last
night’s alcohol and lack of sleep, at 1:12pm | took my time for an
encounter with Lee Ufan.

Lee Ufan's painting was hanging in the exhibition space on the
ground floor. Except for some friends of the director, there were no
visitors in the exhibition and so | closed the doors. The painting was
hanging on the utmost right; in the center was a large work from
Carl Andre: 32 units of Western red cedar wood. The blocks were
placed in a curve that covered up most of the space, creating what
felt like a separate area for Lee Ufan. After closing the doors behind
me, it was quiet. The only sounds came from Carl Andre’s wood
that sometimes cracked and a more zooming sound from Heinz
Mack’s rotors that were hanging on the opposite wall. | was alone
with the artworks and sat down on the floor at a 4m distance from
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Lee Ufan. Maybe | was just floating, but my thoughts were jumping
from one subject to the next, not really thinking about anything in
particular... just a train of thoughts.

There was a meditative atmosphere, but maybe that was more
my zombie mode. Staring at his painting, the brushstroke
seemed to come loose from the ‘background;, which disappeared
in the wall. | let everything go and just looked at the painting,
while listening to the cracking of the wood. The painting lured
me in, while the cracking sound kept me aware of the space | was
in. | felt my own size, my body in the space. Sitting down, | was
smaller than the wooden sculpture. When someone would enter
the space, he would not be able to see me. | felt small. Not only in
size, but in meaning too.

I thought about ‘the encounter, in general as well as this
particular one, and wondered about a ‘fresh’ encounter. | had
seen this painting every day for the past week, but it felt dif-
ferent now that | took the time to look at it. The past days, | had
been busy installing the exhibition, but each time | had looked
at Lee Ufan, he reminded me that | should encounter in a fresh
way. Not easy... | am not blindly following Lee Ufan’s philoso-
phy, trying to live a life in the way that he is prescribing. The
thing is that since | learned about Lee Ufan’s way of thinking,
his way of living a life and dealing with others, elements that
| found important in life anyway have been more accentuated
and have triggered me to actively change myself into what i
consider to be a‘good person’. | mean: there is a difference be-
tween thinking you should be open-minded about others and
actually being open-minded. Lee Ufan (whether it is himself as
a person, his work or his thoughts—if this is not ‘one’) triggered
me in taking the consequences of my thoughts.

94

A little later, | got up to look at the painting from close-by. On
the side it said: “L. Ufan ‘07", followed by a little arrow. Above the
brushstroke, | could see the shine from what seemed to be ‘glue’
It looked yellowish too. Now | was standing so close, | saw that for
this brushstroke Lee Ufan used more pigment than in the one |
had seen at Lisson Gallery. It was so strong and effective. The hairs
of the brush. How much paint would be on the brush to make
the stroke this thick? There were several small points next to the
brushstroke—is it indeed ground stone?

I've become very cold, so | leave the space for a moment to get my

cardigan. Upon entering the space again, | saw the Lee Ufan. The
white background is a very soft and warm color, more yellow than
the color of the wall. Most of the time, | looked at the brushstroke
and often thought about my meeting with Lee Ufan in his studio
last year. | visualize the way he looked. For me, Lee Ufan’s existence
is the same as the brushstroke on the canvas. They are one and the
same. | do not make a distinction.

After some time, | felt so at ease with the painting that | started
focusing on other things. | looked outside through the window to
the beautiful, white, Austrian landscape, then at Carl Andre. Once
more | felt small. Looking at the Lee Ufan again, | lost myself in
the work once again as if | merged into it. Why, actually? A train
of thoughts started again. | just let them come, without being
ashamed. Honestly taking them for what they were: my thoughts
from that moment.

Why is the brushstroke often placed so low on the canvas? What
would Lee Ufan use as the basis for his brushstrokes? How would
it be for Lee Ufan after he finished a painting? How would he feel?
When is his encounter over? Does he still care about the work once
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it is finished? Because of the thickness of the brushstroke there is
often a strong shadow. Does Lee Ufan anticipate on this? Is it his
intention that it seems as if the brushstroke comes loose of the
background? Brushstroke, canvas, wall, room, building... world? Of
how many layers does the brushstroke exist? How would Lee Ufan’s
movement be? Away from or towards himself?

| started to get hungry, which reminded me of a conversation |
once had with one of my professors about the time of your body:
as much as you would sometimes like to, you cannot eliminate
your physical state from an encounter. | was already sitting there
for more than one hour. Time seems to disappear when being with
Lee Ufan. The encounter could be described as one moment that
started when | entered the space and would finish when | would
leave. In this moment, the time on the clock is moving, but for
me—my experience of it—it seemed not to exist. | lost track of
time. As if | am in isolation, for a moment away from it all, from the
rest of the world.

| did not want the encounter to be over yet and started moving
around in the space and to look at the exhibition we had created.
Lee Ufan fitted well together with Carl Andre, Yuko Sakurai and
Tatsuo Miyajima and | was happy with the way we displayed the
works. Here Lee Ufan did not push everything else away. There
seemed to be a balance with the other works in the space. There
was quietude, silence and power. | wondered what others might
think of Lee Ufan. Is he powerful for others as well? What would
others think of his work and what would they experience when
looking at it? To what extent would coincidence, feeling and mood
play a role for Lee Ufan in the creation process? And in my own
encounter? Lee Ufan made the impression of being a rational
person and sensitive at the same time. Realistic.
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Why is it that his work means so much to me? | have previously
described his work as a‘reminder’ and as a confrontation with |
do not know’ Why do | find Lee Ufan’s work so beautiful? Maybe
the answer is the same... Probably, because to me, Lee Ufan’s
thoughts and work go beyond being works of art. It is not this
particular object here, but it is connected to a philosophy or to
ethics. They show a way to live. In this way, the work is not only
this particular work of art here, but an encounter with myself.
Plus: each work does not stand on its own. The body of work that
Lee Ufan created, shows coherence. In addition, the quietude
of his work relaxes me and opens up my brain to think about
life, to allow a moment of reflection. The work even ‘forces’ me
to do so. The simplicity of the work (just a brushstroke, a metal
plate, a stone...) is a reduction to the element of art: a proof of
existence. Nothing more, nothing less than that. It is what it is; it
does not seem to tell any other story. It simply shows “this is me,
Lee Ufan, and | exist”

To me, this humble message is very strong. And it takes me along
with it. | believe Lee Ufan mentioned some time that an encounter
with his work is also an encounter with the world...

Although I know Lee Ufan does not really like it, | touched the paint-
ing. Standing on a 10cm distance | could not resist. The wish to touch
it was suddenly so strong...

My concentration (which was already limited that day) was gone
and | felt empty. After that, thoughts did not come anymore. After
more than two hours, | decided to leave.



16 JANUARY 2010
KUNSTLERHAUS BREGENZ, AUSTRIA
SARAH GOLD

The exhibition had opened, Karlyn and | had given our first speech
together, and looking at the photos seeing our red faces, you could
tell that it had been exciting for us. Now there was a moment of
calm, Karlyn had her encounter with Lee Ufan. | was doing all kinds
of different things, sometimes entering the room where | saw
Karlyn. Karlyn watching Dialogue, walking around in front of the
painting; what was she encountering, what did she think?

Later that day Rene made photos from us for our documentation
and whilst standing in front of Lee Ufan, | had a closer look at his
trace; his “fingerprint”. The grey-blue tones of the square shaped
brushstroke, the thickness of it. All was very intriguing. On a photo,
I had seen that he made his paintings whilst they were lying on the
floor, and with a shelf system hovering above, he would create his
encounter with the canvas. But was this a single encounter? It has
such a complete feeling to it; can you achieve this feeling within
one encounter? And to achieve this kind of gradation of the color
combined with the immaculate thickness of the material demands
serious expertise and craftsmanship. Some of the series of Boxes
by Rene Rietmeyer also have this thickness, he works with oil paint
and | know that they are placed in one touch, one encounter. But
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although the official descriptions on Lee Ufan paintings are: “oil on
canvas’, | am not sure, since oil paint can shrivel in that thickness
and also it does not feel like it. Maybe it has been built up in thin
layers, to avoid the shriveling. Anyway it does not matter, the look,
the atmosphere and the thoughts which get created by looking
at Dialogue are interesting; re-discovering the “thought of the
thought to be known”.

4 FEBRUARY 2010
KUNSTLERHAUS BREGENZ, AUSTRIA
SARAH GOLD

On the way back from the Netherlands to Venice, we planned our
trip so, that we could meet Gotthard Graubner at his opening
at the Kunstmuseum in Vaduz, Liechtenstein. In the afternoon
before the opening, we stopped in Bregenz to check how it was
going with our exhibition. The museum staff were very happy
and told us they had never had as many visitors as for our
exhibition. It probably was the first time that Lee Ufan and also
some of the other artists we had chosen were on display here.
How would people from this region react upon his work? What
would their thoughts be, would they judge and condemn or
would they leave their encounter with the work open?
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4 FEBRUARY 2010
KUNSTLERHAUS BREGENZ, AUSTRIA
KARLYN DE JONGH

After the opening of our exhibition in Bregenz and some
meetings that we had there, we went to the Netherlands, where
Sarah and | would have the 24-hour meeting with Lawrence
Weiner for the first book in this series of PERSONAL STRUCTURES
ART PROJECTS. We rented a holiday home in a park close to
Amsterdam, where we prepared questions for Weiner. It was a
highlight, to be with Weiner on his houseboat on the coldest
day of the year... On the way back to Venice, we were supposed
to meet Gotthard Graubner at the opening of his exhibition
in the Kunstmuseum Liechtenstein in Vaduz that evening
on 4 February. Because we were early, we decided to pass by
our own exhibition in Bregenz to take some photos for future
publications, and besides: it was a perfect ‘excuse’ for another
encounter with Lee Ufan.

Rene took photos from me in front of Lee Ufan’s painting. It was
interesting to encounter the painting in this way and to me it
made a difference that Rene was not only present, but was taking
photos of me as well. It was beautiful to see the work again,
but although | felt it was a part of me, | could not get close. The
painting felt familiar and like a stranger at the same time.

103



Much more than the previous encounters, | became aware of
my own body, my position in the space and my position with
regard to Lee Ufan's painting. There have been many photos
taken of me and | am relatively used to it. Also—with clothes
on—I was usually not insecure about my body, but this time |
was uncomfortable. | heard the camera clicking and felt my own
body. | felt very aware of it: the space my body was taking in and
the ‘empty’ space around it as well as the other ‘bodies’ in the
room. How am | standing? Where am | standing? Where is Lee
Ufan? And the camera? How is the camera seeing me in relation
to Lee Ufan? In comparison to my encounter of 16 January, this
was a very physical experience.

It was as if the camera was spying on me—indeed, it was as if
Rene had disappeared and only the camera was left. My un-ease
was because ‘my encounter’ felt ‘staged; not ‘real’. The camera
was supposed to document my encounter with Lee Ufan. But its
presence had changed the situation: there was no such thing as
‘my encounter with Lee Ufan’; there was an encounter between
the painting, the camera and me. The interesting thing was, that
it was as if the viewpoint had shifted away from my body to that
of the camera. | felt being observed; together with the painting,
I had become an object in the space.

Despite this awareness of my own body in the space and the
feeling of being watched, it was still relatively easy to be
absorbed in the painting. It was as if the painting was pulling
me towards it. At the same time, however, the camera pulling
me back to my position again. By each click, it brought me back
to reality, having no chance of loosing myself in the painting
and contemplating about my current situation in life. And—I am
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sorry to admit—to me, in that moment, the camera was more
important: the photos would be published! But, it was great
seeing the painting again.

When Rene had enough photos from me, Sarah joined so that
we would have different ones, a larger variety. With Sarah
present, there was like a triangular shape between Sarah, the
painting and me; three entities. Maybe | had gotten used to
their presence, but Rene and his camera did not feel as if they
were a part anymore—although the clicking sound was there
the entire time. When he had finished, we continued to the next
work in the exhibition.



7 MAY 2010

GEORG KARGL FINE ARTS
VIENNA, AUSTRIA

KARLYN DE JONGH

Several of the artworks from Bregenz were transported to our next
exhibition, at Georg Kargl Fine Arts in Vienna, Austria. While Sarah
already went to Vienna to oversee the installation, | finished the last
details on our first Art Project, with Lawrence Weiner, which would
be published that week. | arrived in Vienna on 3 May. Lee Ufan’s
painting was already hanging in the main space of the gallery.
The encounter was like a quick “hey” between friends who know
each other very well, relaxed and full of happiness and excitement.
There was still a lot to do in the gallery and so there was no time
to stand still for a moment. Until the opening night on 6 May, there
were just quick looks, as if | was flirting with Lee Ufan. Each time |
passed | tried to get a glimpse of the painting.

On 7 May we would be driving back to Venice. We had no other
appointments planned in Vienna; it was time to go. In the morning,
before leaving, | knew there was only very little time for an encounter.

We had placed a circle made of burnt wood from Toshikatsu Endo
in front of Lee Ufan’s work. In March 2010, | had been reading a lot
about Endo for an interview and article | was writing for Sculpture
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Magazine. With his work Endo addresses human existence. He
wishes to return to the side of today’s life that seems to have
disappeared; his art being a device to go back to the essences of
human existence. Although his way of expression is much different,
Endo’s thoughts are influenced by Lee Ufan. Like Lee Ufan, Endo
wants to return to a pure encounter with Mono (the thing) and in
order to have a pure encounter, we need to wipe away the dust of
too much used, dead language.

It was a great, but also strange feeling to be standing in the center
of Endo’s circle and look at Lee Ufan’s painting. | imagined how
happy Endo must have been, being in this exhibition next to him.
Honestly, there did not come much after this initial thought. Except
for some questions that | had also had in previous encounters,
my mind was sort of blank. | was just looking at the painting, no
thoughts came up. Simply enjoying the moment of being here, in
my own exhibition, in Vienna, looking at Lee Ufan, encountering
him for the next book | would be making... | felt energy flowing
through my entire body. What a life | have!

7 MAY 2010

GEORG KARGL FINE ARTS
VIENNA, AUSTRIA

SARAH GOLD

Part of our PERSONAL STRUCTURES exhibition which was on
display in Bregenz, we brought to Vienna to show at the gallery
of Georg Kargl. So did Dialogue. Being in a new environment and
having not seen each other for months, it felt more than familiar,
without being boring. Placed in the most prestigious room of the
gallery, with the whole ceiling being sky-lit, it looked at ease. The
natural and sophisticated surrounding suited the painting and |
was wondering how Lee Ufan himself would be as a person. On
the right of Dialogue, on a curved wall the big, red, vividly painted
SHARK VALLEY, USA Boxes of Rene Rietmeyer were hanging.
Although both artists obviously come from different cultures and
backgrounds, their work clearly communicates and does raise
thoughts. Rene Rietmeyer is what he makes and what he creates in
turn influences him. | had the feeling that Lee Ufan would also be
one with his work.

Because of its subtleness and its meditative brushstroke, to me
Dialogue feels “Asian”; Lee Ufan expressing his existence at that
momentin time when he created the work. Also the Boxes depicting
Shark Valley (a nature reserve in Florida that at the moment of visit
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mostly consisted of aggressive mosquitoes and alligators) are an
expression of Rietmeyer's existence at that specific moment in
time and space. But not only because of the relation to the subject
matter, is the work of Rene Rietmeyer “in your face” compared to
that of Lee Ufan. Rietmeyer’s work is far from Asian, typically Dutch.
It was interesting to see these artists next to each other, so different
yet so similar, and my curiosity to find out about the human being
Lee Ufan grew.

24 MAY 2010
TATE MODERN, LONDON, UK
KARLYN DE JONGH

In May, | was a few weeks in London. It was mainly for pri-
vate reasons that | went there, but | could work there too. | was
writing an article about Time in contemporary art for the scientific
magazine Kronoscope, discussing the works of Roman Opalka,
Rene Rietmeyer and Tatsuo Miyajima. The latter would have a
presentation at Tate Modern on 24 May. Because | wanted to ask
Miyajima a few more questions about his concept of time, | went
to see him that day. His presentation was fantastic. He discussed
his thoughts with a lot of charm and spontaneity.. Because of the
interview | had done with him almost exactly one year earlier, |
knew a lot of what he was saying already, but it was great to hear
everything. Miyajima was speaking English this time and so it was a
different experience, being actually able to‘understand’ him.

Miyajima spoke about there being no focus, no goal in his
encounters. Time just continues to exist: it keeps changing,
continues forever and everything is connected. He explained
about what he called ‘personal time’: the experience of time; that
time can feel long or short depending on the situation. To elucidate
his thoughts, Miyajima asks: “Can | show a film?” The lights went
out. On the big screen behind him, first there was a projection of
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Miyajima's desktop with different Kanjis. The film started to play
and suddenly, in a 2 x 3 m size, | saw Lee Ufan sitting behind a bowl
of water. He was wearing a red shirt and looked straight into the
camera. | knew this project from Miyajima, Counter Voice, but | did
not know that Lee Ufan had participated in it. It was a nice surprise!

It was fantastic to see Lee Ufan participating in the artwork of
another artist, especially Miyajima whom |—like Lee Ufan—
appreciate very much. To me it also showed that Lee Ufan respects
Miyajima so much, that he would participate in this and show
himself in such a vulnerable position.

| heard Lee Ufan's voice and thought he was speaking either
Japanese or Korean. Because | had seen a similar video before,
I imagined he was counting down from 9 to 1. At zero, he stuck
his head in the bowl of water and—in comparison to the other
people | had seen doing this—quite long. After a few seconds,
he slowly took his head out of the water again. Water was
dripping all over his face and Lee Ufan had difficulties looking
into the camera. He was blinking with his eyes and was making
faces as if he did not like it. He was supposed to start counting
down again, but he seemed to have so much trouble with the
water that he could not start. Miyajima commented: “It’s very
difficult!” and started to laugh at the look on Lee Ufan’s face.
More time elapsed before continuing the countdown. Then Lee
Ufan caught himself again and started counting. While time was
passing, it seemed to become easier and easier. In the meantime,
Miyajima explained that this person on the screen is Lee Ufan,“A
very important Korean artist.”

After Lee Ufan, other people did the same thing. “Normal people,”
Miyajima comments. In comparison to these so-called ‘normal’
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people, Lee Ufan's movement and way of doing seemed very
controlled. Counting down like this, was meant as a countdown
until one’s own death. | wondered how Lee Ufan’s encounter would
have been, what he was thinking.



18 JUNE 2010
ART BASEL, BASEL, SWITZERLAND
SARAH GOLD

We had some appointments in Basel and whilst walking the isles
of the fair, we passed the gallery Nachst St. Stephan of Rosemarie
Schwarzwalder, who also works with Lee Ufan. We stopped and
spoke to her and from what she told in relation to Lee Ufan, |
could not help the feeling that the contact between the artist
and her was not based upon a mutual understanding. She had two
canvases by him on display, but apart from a quick glance, | do
not remember anything. My head was occupied by work issues,
no time for contemplation.
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18 JUNE 2010
ART BASEL, BASEL, SWITZERLAND
KARLYN DE JONGH

After our Art Project with Roman Opalka in France, we continued
our drive via Venice to Basel, Switzerland in order to visit the Basel
Art Fair. We had several meetings in preparation for our Venice
Biennale exhibition which was planned for 2011. In between
meetings, Sarah and | walked around the fair, seeing familiar faces
and lots of art. Two Lee Ufan paintings were hanging at Galerie
Néachst St. Stephan. One of them attracted me immediately: a
mini Lee Ufan, 14 x 18cm. The director told us it is “a suggestion”,
made in 2010. What a cute and honest little work! While Sarah
continued to another meeting and after | called Hermann Nitsch,
and stayed behind for an encounter with Lee Ufan, before it was
time for my next meeting.

The small painting was a great work, so spontaneous and so
simple. | liked it very much. It gave me the feeling of a beginning,
a new start. Its simplicity gave me goose bumps. The painting was
glowing and shining and had a welcoming feeling, as if it was saying
with an innocent voice: “Hello, here  am.”The tiny brushstroke was
curved, having its stress on its upper left side. To me, it seemed like
a little gesture that was dancing on the canvas. The brushstroke
seemed pure and unconstructed. It seemed to be made of only one
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layer, just a touch of the brush on the canvas: a straight’l exist now".
It felt immediate, direct, quick and without hesitation; it felt light,
uncomplicated and spontaneous, but at the same time very strong.

There was so much canvas used to cover the frame—it seemed
double the amount that was actually needed—that it almost
became like an object. Because of the large amount of canvas, the
painting stood out relatively far from the wall and left quite a large,
heavy shadow, one that was almost bigger than the painting itself.
With so much extra canvas, it must have been difficult to stretch it,
resulting in a quite bubbly surface. But to me it did not matter, with
all these small imperfections, the work had something human,
as if it was saying that mistakes are possible: everything is always
imperfect and that is very fine; it is good as it is; you are fine the
way you are. It brought relief in comparison to the sometimes more
heavy, ‘perfect’ works. Everything about this painting was as if it
was out of balance and that made it so great.

The painting next to it was like its elder brother, a work from the
Dialogue series, from 2008. Its surface was even bubblier than that
of the other painting. Only 73 x 92cm—again much smaller than
the paintings | had seen so far—it looked plump and heavy. The
work felt almost fake and unnatural. In comparison, this time, the
brushstroke on the larger painting felt very constructed, almost
static, much more than in other paintings. It was also a strange
combination: this relatively large brushstroke in relation to the size
of the canvas, and then this waved surface. It was as if this work was
trying or pretending to be perfect, but it was not. In comparison to
the small work it seemed dishonest about the way it was. It does
not matter, of course. It is an encounter. But it was interesting for
me to see the difference between these works.
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On the side of both paintings there was the little “this way up”
arrow again. It reminded me of a meeting | had with the artist Henk
Peeters, from the Dutch ZERO movement, when | visited him to
pick up some of his ‘cowhide’-works for our exhibition in Bregenz,
Austria, six months ago. The works consisted of a wooden frame
with a cowhide stretched over it. With these abstract patterns, | was
not sure which way Henk wanted to hang them. “Is there no arrow
on the back?” Henk asked. He looked and then drew four arrows,
one in each direction. “You can choose whatever you like!” But for
Lee Ufan there is a ‘right’ side up; he sticks to his own opinion and
does not allow anyone to interfere.

| asked one of the gallery directors for the price, but he said
that both works were already sold. Apparently, the small Lee
Ufan was the first thing they sold at the fair. That was easy to
believe. If | would have had money, | would probably have
bought it too. In any case, it was interesting for me to hear that
in these economically difficult times, Lee Ufan was apparently
still sellable. Because of my interest in Lee Ufan, the director took
me aside into the gallery’s ‘stockroom) where he showed me one
of Lee Ufan's works on paper: a blue aquarelle. It was beautiful.
The color was very intense and fresh, like water. For me, it had
a similar spontaneity as the small painting. Briefly, we spoke
about Lee Ufan’s brushstrokes and he told me that my feeling
that the brushstroke sometimes feels constructed, might lie in
the difference between a European and an Asian way of thinking.
“Maybe for Lee Ufan it is freedom.” He had a point.

After Néchst St. Stephan, | continued my way over the fair until
| saw another work from Lee Ufan at the booth of his Tokyo gal-
lery SCAI The Bathhouse. It was a painting from the series From
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Line from 1979, 100 x 65cm, placed in a beautiful metal frame. Lee
Ufan was 43 years old when he painted it; his signature was on
the front of the canvas this time. SCAl’s description stated that the
work consisted of oil and stone pigment on canvas. It reminded
me of what Tatsuo Miyajima had said about stones: they have a life
as well. Would Lee Ufan be of the same opinion? What would this
mean for his painting? Does the painting itself also have a life?

The blue lines were placed at different locations on the canvas,
which had a rough, yellowish surface. The composition was
beautiful. The blue color was as if it came from some sort
of mineral. It was shining. Some lines seemed to have been
accentuated at the top and painted in a downward, pulling
movement. | wondered how much pressure Lee Ufan would
have put on the brush while painting. It seemed to me that he
would start with quite some pressure, so that he could push
the paint slightly out of the brush. As he would be moving
his brush, | imagined he would take off more and more of the
pressure until the moment he would only be slightly touching
the surface. In any case, | imagined it would have been a careful
and slow movement, requiring a lot of concentration.

When looking at this painting, | was confronted with another—for
me—interesting aspect about ‘encounter’: the moment. To me,
‘now’ is not only ‘this moment; but extended to the (near) future
and to the (recent) past. Over the years, | noticed, however, that
when | am considering ‘me today’ the ‘future’is most important—
maybe it is because | am still relatively young and do not have
that much ‘past’ Looking at Lee Ufan’s painting in this moment
at Art Basel, | noticed that—although | was not actively thinking
about it—the ‘future’ was present. That evening, | would be going
on an erotic weekend with a lover. It may sound silly and it may
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show that | have not been looking with an‘open’mind, but | could
not help but notice that the blue lines on the canvas had the
same color and shape as the vibrator | had at that time: straight,
with a little curve at the top. There | was, standing next to the
entrance of the booth, being aroused by blue lines on a canvas...
I am not sure, if | would not have gone on this trip that evening,
that | would have ever had that connotation—because, the
connotation is maybe a little far-fetched... If | would be looking
at the same painting today, | would probably be more concerned
about the way the stokes were painted, that they seemed to be
one line, one mark and not many layers...

The brushstrokes looked lively. The work gives the feeling of
a dance, of freedom. Does Lee Ufan feel free? Would he feel a
responsibility towards other people with his work, like Lawrence
Weiner said he feels? How would Lee Ufan understand the ‘now’?
When making the work, would he consider past and future to have
an influence on him? And what about his physical state?

When | ask a charming Japanese woman for the price, she tells me
it is already sold. Apparently also this work was sold on the first
day of the fair. Lee Ufan seems quite popular. | was happy for him,
but on the other hand—thinking about his small, cramped studio
in Paris—I| wondered how much Lee Ufan would get from these
sales—if anything at all.



9 DECEMBER 2010
RIVA LONGA 17B, VENICE, ITALY
SARAH GOLD

Since the beginning of the year 2010 we had been developing
and planning our exhibition PERSONAL STRUCTURES as part of
the 54™ Venice Biennale. After nearly 8 months of negotiations we
were on the brink of signing the lease for the space we had set
our minds on: Palazzo Bembo, located just 70 meters from Rialto
Bridge, overlooking the Canal Grande. Now we felt secure enough
to actively invite artists to participate and get involved in our
Biennale project, | received the following email:

Dear Sarah,

I'm delighted to inform you that Mr. Lee Ufan is planning to
visit the space in Venice for the group show that you'll organize
during next Venice biennale.

His stay in Venice will be from December 8 late afternoon to the
morning of December 10.

Could you kindly inform me of the address of the place, and
around what time he should come visit the space?

Also, could you please confirm that the following phone number
is correct?: 39-3490889763

Sincerely yours.

Esra - Lee Ufan’s assistant
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Because of severe weather conditions in Paris, the flight had
a serious holdup and our meeting was delayed for a day. We
were supposed to meet Lee Ufan and his assistant just behind
Piazza San Marco in hotel Monaco, where he apparently likes
to stay. We waited in the lobby. When | saw an Asian woman
walking towards us, | knew that must be Esra. | was amazed by
her beauty; | could look at her for hours for sheer pleasure, what
a delight. While we were waiting for Lee Ufan, she told us that
she is Korean as well and that she had just moved to the United
States, after living in Paris for a long time.

Some minutes later, Lee Ufan came walking through the hall of the
lobby. He looked confident, and contrary to the first time | had seen
him, he did not feel fragile at all. He seemed to be feeling free and
was dressed fashionably but effortlessly. We went to the café area
of the hotel, where we sat down; | believe we all ordered coffee and
established the best language to communicate in, which was basic
English. Rene started to putin plain words who we are and what our
goal in life is; carefully he explained PERSONAL STRUCTURES and
his Time-Space-Existence concept and goal. Although language
was not a strong point in this meeting, Lee Ufan understood. He
connected with Rene: quality recognizes quality. And he must
have seen that he is, like himself, a real artist. After explaining our
passion for what we do, and the need for us to spread the word,
we walked over to Palazzo Bembo. At that moment, the Palazzo
still was a real mess and | vividly remember how Lee Ufan had to
climb through scaffolding, which he did with agility—I even had
the feeling he liked it. We showed him all the rooms, and because
we knew that he would prefer a room “from one of four corners’, we
wanted to offer him the prestigious corner room in the front of the
building with view to Canal Grande and Rialto. But he had looked
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at it, grumbled something in a friendly way and had moved on.
When he entered the room we had thought of dedicating to Rene’s
work, he immediately made clear that this is the room he would
like. It was set; Lee Ufan had made his choice and seemed satisfied.

Lee Ufan invited us for lunch. First we walked to Fiaschetteria
Toscana, not far from Rialto, but it was closed. Now, Lee Ufan
guided us, walking fast to La Colomba, a restaurant located behind
San Marco, but also this was closed. We decided to enter any
restaurant, of which there are many; | remember sitting in the back
of a restaurant, checkered tablecloth and Lee Ufan being at ease,
telling all kinds of stories of his life. It was a true pleasure to share
life and time with him.



9 DECEMBER 2010
VENICE, ITALY
KARLYN DE JONGH

On 8 December 2010 Sarah, Rene and | had scheduled a meeting
with Lee Ufan. We were supposed to go out for dinner together,
but Lee Ufan was stuck in the snow at Charles de Gaulle Airport
in Paris. He sat in the plane for six hours before it finally took off
around 9pm. Instead, we met the next day at 11am in the lobby of
Hotel Monaco, the hotel where he was also staying the last time |
met him in June 2009. Lee Ufan had come to Venice to see Palazzo
Bembo, to see if he wanted to participate in our Biennale exhibition
and possibly to choose a space for his installation. Another thing
we had to discuss with him, was the sales of one of his paintings to
a German art dealer who had a client for it—Lee Ufan knew about
this already and had sent us a photo of the work the week before.

It was going to be a tricky meeting: we were not sure what to
expect, how Lee Ufan would react and we figured he might be
tired and there was a chance that he might not be in a good mood
because of the delays in his flight. Besides, it was cold and very dark
outside; conditions were not at their best for viewing a Palazzo. But
| felt fine about meeting Lee Ufan and was quite relaxed.

Five minutes before the meeting, the three of us took a seat in the
lobby of the hotel. Around 11am, first the assistant of Lee Ufan
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arrived—it was the same woman he was with last year. Then Lee
Ufan came walking into the lobby. He seemed in a very good mood.
Apparently, they landed in the airport of Venice around 11pm and it
took them quite some time to reach the hotel. But it did not seem to
affect Lee Ufan too much; he seemed fresh and lively. He was smiling
a lot and it was great to see his friendly face again. We shook hands
and told Lee Ufan that if he would like to we could see the Palazzo
at 1pm—we did not have a key yet and therefore depended on
someone from the real estate office to open the door.

Lee Ufan invited us for a coffee at the hotel bar. | walked next to
him, while the others followed. It felt as if | was alone with Lee Ufan
for a moment. For me, it was a little awkward and | did not know
so well what to say. | had worried about this encounter, because of
my bad questions of the year before. In principle | knew that if Lee
Ufan would be living his thoughts, it would be fine and there was
nothing for me to worry about. In that case, we could just continue
in a normal way. And indeed: Lee Ufan seemed fine. My respect for
him grew! Unlike some other artists | had met, Lee Ufan was living
his thoughts: having a fresh encounter with me right now.

We were the only ones in the bar and we all had a cappuccino.
| took a seat opposite of Lee Ufan, next to Sarah. Rene did most
of the talking. From the three of us, he is the one with the most
experience. He introduced our project PERSONAL STRUCTURES,
who we are and our approach to life and art. Then, slowly, he told
everything there was to know: that the Palazzo was still a disaster,
the plans of the other exhibiting artists, the two rooms that we
had in mind for him, that if necessary we could help him finding
stones. It all seemed to be fine; Lee Ufan spoke very good English
and seemed open for everything we told him.
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We offered Lee Ufan that if necessary, Sarah and | could travel a
week through Italy to find the right stone. “Finding stones in Italy
is very difficult Lee Ufan commented and added, “A Japanese
stone has a Japanese face; an Italian stone has an Italian face; an
American stone has an American face. There is a difference. | have
experience in this for over 40 years.” He started telling us a story—
in Korean. It was remarkable to see the dedication with which
he seemed to want to tell it. It was a story about one of the first
exhibitions he had had in France. Lee Ufan needed stones for his
installation and looked in a diameter of 500km around Paris. For
about a week, he looked everywhere, but could not find anything
that was ‘right’ Even though there were stones, he did not see
any stones. When he returned empty-handed to the location of
his exhibition, he found some ‘good’ stones in a garden close by.
It appeared to be a Japanese garden. Lee Ufan said that, without
being aware of it, he used to only have an eye for Japanese stones.
From that moment, he opened himself up for ‘local’ stones. Now
he can find stones anywhere.

It was interesting for me to hear this story from Lee Ufan and realized
again that the same counted for me. Maybe | read too much into it,
but | even had the feeling he was saying it to me. | became much
more open than | used to be. Also in my first encounter with Lee
Ufan, | was probably not open enough to see Lee Ufan for who he
is, as a human being. | appreciated him now for who he is, | mean in
the sense that | was looking at the person sitting opposite me now,
without thinking of what he had achieved in the past.

Lee Ufan told us about the feeling he has, that he is always a
stranger: in Korea they say he is Japanese; in Japan people say he is
Korean.”l am a traveled man."He continued: “My work is not Asian,
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not Korean or Japanese; my work is Lee Ufan.” It was a statement
that he also made in the fax-interview that | read in preparation
for our meeting in Paris. That interview addressed the topic of
Orientalism and so, it did not surprise me that Lee Ufan made
a remark about it. This time, however, it came out of the blue. It
seemed as if Lee Ufan felt he had to defend himself against being
seen as an Asian artist. To me, his work is indeed Lee Ufan—I keep
describing works as “Lee Ufan” rather than as “Lee Ufan’s painting”
or “Lee Ufan's sculpture”. But | must admit—and this might sound
contradictory—that | do think that when seeing the work for the
first time, you would guess it is made by an artist coming from Asia.
I mean this in the way that, for example, Hermann Nitsch’s Orgien
Mysterien Theater is born in a certain region at a certain time; and
without giving any ethical judgment, you can know the artist did
not come from Holland. In the case of Lee Ufan, | also feel that you
can see the work is born from a person who was born in Asia—at
least: to me it seems an American could never have made such a
subtle work.

Rene showed Lee Ufan the application we had prepared for the
Biennale office, with the names of the other participating artists
inside. Lee Ufan knew many of them personally; the young,
upcoming artists seemed to interest him. With our project
PERSONAL STRUCTURES we go beyond our own personal taste and
present different artistic statements next to each other without
judging. Like us, Lee Ufan was curious about everybody. It was nice
to see him appreciating all these different opinions. We explained
Lee Ufan more and more about our project, about how it started
and how and why it developed until where it was to day. Lee Ufan
seemed to enjoy this very much. He was laughing and making
in-between comments showing his approval. We spoke about the
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painting for the German art dealer and also here Lee Ufan seemed
fine. It all seemed to go in a ‘normal; realistic way, with a great
awareness about all aspects of the situation: we are doing a large
project and need to finance this; it was not inappropriate to speak
about money.

Because of our meeting at the Palazzo at 1pm, we still had some
time after all the necessary things were discussed. We enjoyed our
coffee, while Lee Ufan went to his room to pick up some books that
he had brought for us. It was the catalogue of his new museum
in Naoshima, Japan. Each of us also got a multiple that Lee Ufan
had made for the museum: a beautifully folded carton with inside
a note in Japanese by Lee Ufan and a white handkerchief with one
blue and one orange ‘brushstroke’ on it. The idea of blowing my
nose in a work by Lee Ufan, felt a little off—and | never did do it. But
| was happy receiving this present.

Lee Ufan flipped through the catalogue with us and showed
the works that he has in his museum. He commented that
many Europeans are more toward the object. “There is a strong
ontology there,” he said. In Asia people apparently look more
at the relation between objects and their own relation to the
object. According to Lee Ufan, we, Europeans, look more to the
object itself, as if you are projecting your own position. Rather
than showing objects, Lee Ufan said he preferred to show the
space. Indeed, the catalogue had many photos of spaces in and
around the museum. | wondered what he would be thinking of
our Palazzo and the spaces we had given him as an option.

It was special to be sitting there with Lee Ufan. There was such a warm
atmosphere, five people in a normal human conversation, being
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open towards each other and enjoying this moment in life together.
| felt very close to Lee Ufan. The worries | had had, were gone.

We left the bar at Monaco’s to visit Palazzo Bembo. We had to take
a special exit, because the street in front of the Monaco and Harry’s
bar was under water. They had built a bridge over a piece of metal
that was supposed to keep the water outside. Without trouble, Lee
Ufan stepped over it. It was cute to see and | realized Lee Ufan had
become human, to me—or better: | had become more human and
could now enjoy this in others, too. | had lost the blind respect for
him | had had. I still had a lot of respect for Lee Ufan, but now it was
based on experience, being able to see him for what he is.

Before our meeting, we had carefully checked the best route to
Palazzo Bembo, so that our walk would be smooth and easy. But
it was all for nothing. San Marco square was flooded. We took one
of the walkways, but soon it appeared it would not be possible to
continue in that direction. Venice was again like a labyrinth, where
we were trying to find the right way without getting our feet wet. It
did not seem to trouble Lee Ufan. We cannot go that way? Ok, fine!
Or he would go through alleys that were actually closed off. “No
entry”-signs did not impress him either.

We took the long route to Rialto, but | believe | never walked it in
such a short time. Lee Ufan has a very quick pace. 74 years old, but
he was the most fit of us all. We chatted about Venice; he had come
here already since 1973—7 years before | was born. He was nothing
like the helpless tourists that you often see wandering around; Lee
Ufan knew his way.

At a certain point there was a big pool of water in an alley. There
was no escape possible; we had to go through. Again Lee Ufan
adjusted quickly. No other option? Ok. And he made a big jump,
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to avoid as much water as possible. | may be giving a bit too
many examples of how flexible and easy-going Lee Ufan was,
but it is not often that we see somebody with such flexibility.
Normally, we are the flexible ones.

Full of energy, Lee Ufan walked up the stairs of the Palazzo.
Everything was still in a disastrous state. Our exhibition would be
on the second floor, but one of the four corner-rooms that Lee
Ufan indicated that he might like, was at that time only reachable
through a separate staircase on the first floor. They were renovating
that part of the building; a scaffolding blocked our route. We
explained Lee Ufan the situation on which he took the initiative
to climb through the scaffolding to the other side of the building.
When we entered the space that we thought was suitable for
Lee Ufan, he looked around and started measuring it, taking big
steps. He did not say much; he just observed. At a certain point he
asked about the windows, whether they could be closed or should
stay opened. We clarified that he is the boss of the space, that he
can decide everything himself and can do as he wishes. Lee Ufan
commented that this room was quite narrow, but made also clear
that he was pleasantly surprised by the space.

We went up to the second floor, where we showed him the other
rooms and the horrible state they were in, each time telling Lee
Ufan about the great plans we had for it. “Here comes Toshikatsu
Endo.” “Here comes Arnulf Rainer and we will build the space like
this.”“This room is for Kosuth." It is that | myself knew that we could
make it happen, but thinking about it now, it is quite surprising
that it did not discourage Lee Ufan. We went through the whole
space quite quickly; Lee Ufan did not need much time to see it.

We entered the corner room that would become Lee Ufan’s. He
was quiet again for a few seconds and then said he wanted to
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make an installation here, with marble split on the floor (like a
Japanese garden), that he would place a medium size stone (we
did not have to worry; it would only be 500kg) and one painting.
I imagined how it would look and liked the idea very much. It
seemed that Lee Ufan wanted to give his best to make a strong
statement here, in our exhibition. We had opened the windows,
because on the phone Lee Ufan had indicated that he wanted
to have natural light coming in the space. But apparently he had
changed his mind. He asked if the windows could be covered and
said he wanted to hang his painting there. Lee Ufan explained
that visitors would be allowed to enter the space and could sit
on the ‘marble floor’ Lee Ufan took quite some time, standing in
the room, as if he wanted to feel its atmosphere. the feel. Taking
large steps, he measured his room. To be extra clear, he again
said: “l want this space.”

Our visit to the Palazzo was over and Lee Ufan invited us for
lunch. From one of the participants in my On Kawara project, a
French cook, | had heard Lee Ufan was a very good ‘taster”. In high
speed, we walked through Venice on search of a good restaurant
that was open at this hour. Lee Ufan had two favorites, but both
of them were closed. Around the opera house, Lee Ufan seemed
to have lost his orientation. We went back again and passed by a
regular restaurant, operated by Chinese. It was great to be sitting
there with Lee Ufan. We spoke about Toshikatsu Endo, who said
that the basis of his thoughts comes from Lee Ufan. Lee Ufan
knew him well and commented that Endo is living too much in
his head, that he does not travel enough to see other countries
and therefore is not open to new influences. We told him about
Endo’s text in our book and the time and effort it had taken
to translate it. “Endo is very difficult...” From what | had heard
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about Lee Ufan before | first visited him in Paris two years earlier,
I had understood he was a philosopher, a big intellectual. Here it
became again extra clear to me that to Lee Ufan all this theory
is not most important. He just lets things go and be as they are.

It was so great, talking with Lee Ufan like this and being together,
I noticed | had a smile on my face the whole time from sheer
happiness. | sucked in the moment, trying to experience as much
as | possibly could. It made me feel very present and alive. From this
day on, the freshness of a ‘fresh encounter’ had something light,
something easy and positive.



16 DECEMBER 2010
LEE UFAN STUDIO, PARIS, FRANCE
SARAH GOLD

In order to realize our Venice endeavor we had to raise an enormous
amount of money. Until that time, we had financed all projects
through the revenue of Rene’s artwork, but this was going far
beyond our possibilities. Other ways had to be found. We were in
Naples at the moment to speak to Peppe Morra from the Hermann
Nitsch Museum (and our car had just broken down), when | got a
call saying that we would be able to place a Lee Ufan painting in a
private collection. We contacted Lee Ufan; he had understood the
needs for our exhibition. As a sign of goodwill he would allow our
Foundation to place his work in a good home. On 15 December,
Rene and | drove from Venice to Paris to meet Lee Ufan and pick
up the painting. The weather condition worsened by driving to the
north and at a certain moment the snow was tremendous, but we
did arrive in Paris in time. Again we passed the Moulin Rouge and
found a parking spot. When it was time, we went to the studio. | felt
a little uncomfortable, this was the first time | had to deal with such
an artist and while Rene brought the paining to our car, | explained
Lee Ufan the situation. He understood and because he wanted to
support our Foundation he was very generous. Drinking the tea |
had been served, | could hardly believe what had just happened.
This was a big help for our project.
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Because of the severe weather conditions, we decided not to
drive but to ship the work. We found a shipper in Paris and left the
painting to be shipped safely to its new home.

16 DECEMBER 2010
RIVA LONGA 17B, VENICE, ITALY
KARLYN DE JONGH

After Lee Ufan had gone back to Paris, the German art dealer sold
the painting Lee Ufan had made available to us. As Sarah and
Rene were planning to go to Belgium anyway, they passed by Lee
Ufan’s studio to pick up the painting and to make sure it would
be correctly shipped to Berlin. Lee Ufan would be there himself
to hand them the work. When their meeting was over, Sarah
called. Lee Ufan had decided to give a donation to our foundation
GLOBAL ART AFFAIRS. “To support your project,” he had apparently
said. | was perplexed by such kindness and for a while Sarah and |
were both quiet on the phone, only sometimes interrupted with a
“wow”. What a gesture this was!
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4 MARCH 2011
RIVA LONGA 17B, VENICE, ITALY
KARLYN DE JONGH

There is not so much to say about it, but it was an encounter—
however short it might be. | often write for Sculpture Magazine and
now had arranged for the publication of our Paris interview with
Lee Ufan in the March 2011 issue of this magazine. It was a good
timing, with our exhibition at the Venice Biennale coming up as well
as his solo-show at the Guggenheim in New York. A total of eight
pages; they were beautiful, with images covering Lee Ufan’s entire
oeuvre. When | notified Lee Ufan of the appearance of Sculpture,
he had already received a copy and—as his assistant replied: “Mr
Lee Ufan was also very glad to see that article” Happiness over the
positive reply.
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14 APRIL 2011
CANNAREGIO 4343, VENICE, ITALY
SARAH GOLD

Lee Ufan had expressed his thoughts on how he would like to
display his work. At least one painting on the wall, a metal plate
and a “medium” size stone—medium? And if it would be possible,
a 5cm thick layer of marble split. “Our pleasure,” we told him. Now
we had to find out what the total weight would be of 5cm marble
split in that room. Because of the old Palazzo and the “rules and
regulations” which are applied in plenty in Venice, we would need
to have a static research done. After Rene determined the weight
by calculating, we knew we needed roughly 2 ton. We gave Lee
Ufan different possibilities of stone type, color and size, and he
chose the Bianco Carrara Chips, the 9-12 mm ones. We decided to
order, just to be sure, 3 ton. | wired the money for the stones and
| received an email:

Thank You very much for the payment. The chips will be at S.
Giuliano on the 20.04.2011 at 9,00 O’clock. Best regards, Davini

Now only the transportation of the works, the painting(s), metal
plate and the medium size stone from Paris to Venice had to be
realized. The date was already communicated and Mr Moon would
assist. Our German transportation company had been instructed;
two different locations in Paris, addresses and telephone numbers
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provided. Now | had to double check if all was going according to
plan and set the exact times of pick-up. | called the first number |
had for Mr Moon, a landline. Somebody answered and | told him
who | am and the reason for calling. | could speak English, which
Mr Moon does not. After a short and polite talk, | was told to call
Mr Moon on his mobile phone. When we were about to finish the
telephone conversation, | asked with whom | had been speaking.
He was the “Son of Moon, Moon-Son”.

After this cute intermezzo, | called the mobile numberand Mr Moon
answered. In my best, non-existing French, | explained who he
was speaking to. It was interesting to see how, without language,
if both parties have goodwill, you can connect. All was set; our
transportation company would be awaited for at the two different
locations. The first to pick up were the medium size stone and metal
plate, in the northwestern suburbs of Paris called “Colombes” at 8
o'clock in the morning. After that, between 10 and 12, the paintings
at the studio near Moulin Rouge could be picked up. | felt assured
that everything would go well.

20 APRIL 2011
PALAZZO BEMBO, VENICE, ITALY
SARAH GOLD

The number of things to organize and to keep an eye on was
becoming a mountain and for the last months before the opening
most nights | went to sleep at 2 in the morning and woke up at 5.
When the stones for Lee Ufan arrived at Palazzo Bembo, | had no
time for an encounter. There were too many important telephone
calls to make and things to organize in order to get the exhibition
ready in time. We had a small army of students from the university
who helped us for the set-up, so they would be the one, together
with Karlyn, to encounter Lee Ufan. | felt sorry, but had no time to
dwell on it. The next call was waiting and my To Do list was endless.
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20 APRIL 2011
PALAZZO BEMBO, VENICE, ITALY
KARLYN DE JONGH

Sarah gave me the exact date of this encounter, | could not recall
it at all. We were so busy with the setup of our exhibition for the
Venice Biennale that from the moment we received the key of
our Palazzo on the Canal Grande on 15 April 2011 all the days are
one blur, one total moment that covered six weeks of my life. So, |
can just say that at a certain time at the beginning of this six week
period, the marble split arrived for Lee Ufan’s installation. Lee Ufan
had chosen a certain color and size, which we had ordered from
Carrara. We had calculated that we needed about 2000kg of split
to cover the floor. Because 2000kg was not possible, we ordered a
total of 3000kg in bags of 25kg.

We had students from the university in Venice working for us, to
help with the setup of the exhibition, and about eight of them came
to assist when the boat with marble split arrived on the Riva del
Carbon. It was not really necessary for me to help, but | just wanted
to be there and have this physical encounter. It was fantastic! The
number of bags, their weight and the fact that they were meant for
Lee Ufan’s installation made it a real break in the stressful time that
it was. Carrying the bags needed all my power and focus and so, for
a moment | could not think of anything else than marble split and
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Lee Ufan. It may sound silly, but carrying the bags was like carrying
Lee Ufan. For me, it was as if he was present in that moment.

From the quay, the bags went through the hallway, up one flight
of stairs and into the elevator. Because the architect was not
finished covering some of the floors with linoleum, we could not
put the stones in Lee Ufan’s room yet. Instead we placed them
in the entrance space, making only small piles in order not to
put too much weight on one spot. Some of the bags functioned
as ‘chairs, until we could replace them with the furniture Sarah
and | bought at the fair in Milan. Although they were just bags
of marble split and we used them for many different purposes,
it was one of the first ‘works of art’ to arrive. It was the start of
the last phase in the preparations of turning this Palazzo into a
beautiful world-class exhibition.

21 APRIL 2011
PALAZZO BEMBO, VENICE, ITALY
SARAH GOLD

When | came to the Palazzo, two pallets of stones were standing
in the main space. Several of the bags of Carrara marble split were
in use as ‘chairs’ and they were spread through the main space in
single and double stacks. Rene and several student were sitting on
them, working. They had this function for quite a while until we
received our furniture. After that they got wheeled over with little
trolleys and were stacked along the wall of the corridor close to
their designated room.
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END OF APRIL 2011
CANNAREGIO 4343, VENICE, ITALY
KARLYN DE JONGH

We were making great progress with the organization of our
Venice Biennale exhibition. One of Sarah’s tasks was to oversee
the transportation of the different works of art, | finished the last
texts for the exhibition catalogue. Most artists had written their
own text; for others we wrote an essay ourselves and Lee Ufan
was one of these. Because | knew it was not going to be easy, |
postponed it until the last moment. But around the end of April
the exhibition catalogue soon would be printed and | could not
wait any longer, it had to be done.

Even after having had so many encounters with his work and with
Lee Ufan personally, it was still difficult to come up with an ‘under-
standable’text, one that ‘made sense'.. Even though | based the text
on our Lee Ufan interview, it was difficult to ‘explain’ what he is about
in my own words, making it a readable text for a wide, mostly non-
native-speaking English audience. The ‘matter’ was difficult to get a
hold of; sometimes | came up with a good way to phrase something,
butitimmediately slipped away again. It was a real struggle: reformu-
lating and changing all the time. It was a confrontation with myself
and how much—at that point in time and the stressful situation | was
in—I actually understood from Lee Ufan. This was the result:
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“Painter, sculptor, writer and philosopher Lee Ufan (¥1936, South
Korea) is about Encounter. He focuses on the relationships of
materials and perceptions; his works are made of raw physical
materials that have barely been manipulated. Lee Ufan’s often
site-specific installations centralize the relationship between
painted / unpainted and occupied / empty space. With his work,
Lee Ufan addresses Encounter in its relation to life in general, not
only in its relation to art. Therefore, according to Lee Ufan, having
an encounter with his work is not just an encounter with his work:
it is an encounter with the world. This is his idea of ‘being there’at
a particular space at a certain moment. Through the relationship
between the works and the spaces in which they are placed, he
invites the viewer to experience “the world as it is.”

Lee Ufan was born in Korea and went to Japan when he was
nineteen years old. During his life, he has been in many different
countries and says he feels like a foreigner each time—wherever
he is.”l am a stranger, and due to this, my ability to communicate
is disrupted: this in turn brings discomfort, and leads to
misunderstandings. | have lived under these circumstances for a
long time: thatis‘encounter’for me.[...] Encounter is dealing with
others; it is a very simple thing” Having an encounter, happens
every time when experiencing something that is outside of
yourself. It starts in the very moment of contact—when you meet
other people, when you look at the moon or at a building. Facing
other people is simultaneously a passive and active encounter:
you encounter the other, but the other encounters you too. The
artist explains that the concept of Encounter is not necessarily
about verbal communication. Neither is it about the differences
in meaning between East and West.

Lee Ufan prefers to start from ‘normal’ things. Encountering
something is dealing with ‘Otherness’. Lee Ufan remarks that
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humans usually want to perceive and understand the other with
all the knowledge they have gained. “But in reality, you feel a
distortion, a gap between knowledge and reality. You see the
separation between them and you start becoming aware of the
unknown! The artist gives the example of encountering a stone.
“We can understand a stone with knowledge, by analyzing it. But
when you see a stone, you do not know at all; we often have the
feeling “what is that?” This is not simply “I do not know”; rather,
this is an unknown character. An unknown character always
invites me to learn more about things in one or another way.”

The unknown of the encounter with the other, is in the relation.
You experience the relation between yourself and the other.
For his work, Lee Ufan therefore often uses the combination
of materials that centralize this ‘relation’ and create the feeling
of distortion—the feeling of ‘what is that?. For example, the
combination of a steel plate and a stone, which is a combination
between nature and something that is created by human beings
in an industrial society: “A stone is not man-made. Stones lay
around anywhere by mountains and rivers. Whether you are from
Africa, from Paris, or from America, everybody knows; stones are
from nature, and a steel plate is industrial. | have thought about
what the viewers can feel and see. | try to make the viewer feel
the combination of things, those made by our industrial society
and those that are from nature!” With the combination of these
materials Lee Ufan creates space. “Normally, in modern art,
the work is the object itself. My art is not a painting and not
a sculpture. | don't make just objects, | create space: ‘Ba’ and
‘being there’ What is going to happen with the stone and the
steel plate, what | can feel with them being together, that is very
important.” Being influenced by his surroundings, means that
Lee Ufan's work is decided in relation to a particular location,
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a particular space. “Normally fine spaces exist everywhere, be
they a mountain, a riverside, a gallery, a home, etc. But this is
very complex, and raises many difficult questions. That is why
the way my work relates to the space in which it will be pre-
sented is the most important aspect | consider. But the truth
is, anywhere is fine. | do not place my completed work on the
spot; my work is made ready through its relation with the space
where | want to place it. The relation itself is infinite.”

One learns with age and acquires more knowledge, but even Lee
Ufan, having seen many stones, steel plates and having created
many paintings, still has encounters when he makes a work.
“When | make a painting, | also have small encounters: a feeling
of subtlety, questions and other things come up. ‘Encounter’
is non-continuous: always changing. It is important that it is a
passive and an active thing. That is the reason why | want to
paint a multitude of seemingly the same paintings, endlessly. For
me, perfection does not exist, nor can a work be controlled one
hundred percent. | cannot know what will happen at the moment
| start working in a certain location” When making work, Lee Ufan
says he uses his body as a channel. The body is influenced by its
relation to the surroundings: whether it is cold outside, whether
the work is made in a large or a small space. Being influenced by his
surroundings, means that Lee Ufan uses much more than only his
knowledge to create art. “l paint my relation to the outside natu-
rally through this intermediate connection. My body is not mine,
and my body is not just inside or outside, it is in between.” Lee Ufan
remarks that this understanding of the body comes from the Asian
understanding that ‘body’ is not just ‘myself; but that it includes
the relations with the outside. In its contact with the outside, the
body becomes something ‘in the middle; or‘in between’.
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Lee Ufan prefers what he calls a ‘fresh encounter, one that is not
colored by previous knowledge or expectations of how something
‘should be’ When he came to visit Palazzo Bembo to look at his
space in December 2010, Lee Ufan told us an anecdote about an
exhibition he once had in France and how he used to be when he
was young. To make his work for this exhibition, he traveled the
country in search for a stone. Looking for a stone, however, Lee
Ufan admits he somehow could not find any—until he saw one in
what appeared to be a Japanese garden. Later, he realized that at
that time he was still too much influenced by his culture: a stone
from the mountains in France did not feel like a stone to him; he
was looking for something he knew; other stones did not feel
‘right’ Nowadays, Lee Ufan chooses stones that are from the region
or country where the work is exhibited—like the Carrara Marble
we have in Palazzo Bembo. The feeling Lee Ufan described in the
anecdote is exactly the feeling he wants to distance himself from.
He wants himself and other people, to have a fresh encounter with
the world around him. Lee Ufan explains: “If we do not know about
Christianity and Greek mythology, we cannot understand western
art. When | just look at the painting itself, | cannot understand it
at all; it requires a broad depth of prior knowledge. Modern art
also has many rules and artists are creating works by using those
rules. | want to be different from those rules; | want to be free. This
is why | want to have reactions from African, American, European
and Asian people encountering my work like,“Wow, what is it?" The
meaning does not matter, but | want to have these fresh moments;
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they are very important for me!



14 - 21 MAY 2011
PALAZZO BEMBO, VENICE, ITALY
KARLYN DE JONGH

The exhibition grew day by day. It was wonderful to see each day a
bit more of what we had been working for every single day for the
past year. One weekend, probably three weeks before the opening,
there was little else we could do and so | started with Lee Ufan’s
installation. After covering the linoleum floor with an anti-slip
cloth, | started with the first layer of split.

Apart from the weight of the bags, it was a simple job: putting the
marble on the floor and spreading it out to an equal layer. But it
was great to do it. Normally we sit for hours behind the computer;
this was hands-on work. The preparation, the setup of an exhibition
like this and seeing it grow, was great: each action you take brings
you one step closer to a real, visible result. With each bag, the cloth
got more and more covered, the piles in the corridor outside of Lee
Ufan’s room were getting smaller, and the room was getting more
and more special.

But the act itself was an interesting experience too, that | enjoyed
with almost all of my senses. | was part of the creation process of
Lee Ufan’s installation and it was great. The sound of the stones
falling on the floor; the sound of them grinding over each other
while spreading them out. The marble was still wet from the water
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they had used for splitting it, which left a strong scent: the smell of
the moist, the ‘liquid marble’ The grey color over the white cloth.
| used my bare hands to spread the split, making them white, wet
and tingly. | wanted to feel the stone. When | was done, my hands
were ‘burning'—reminding me of Lee Ufan for the rest of the day.

The next morning the first layer of marble was dry and had
become white. It looked very special! The sound in the space had
changed. Now, it was soft, giving the room a quiet, contemplative
atmosphere. But rather than contemplate, | continued with the
next layer. There was no time to ‘waste’ Again the sound, smell,
feeling... and seeing the grey marble covering a white surface.
This time the experience was slightly different. | heard my own
footsteps over the white marble, softly grinding it. The sound of
the falling marble and the spreading was less hard. The smell of
the moist stones triggered the smell that was already hanging in
the room. The grey, wet stones left a beautiful cover over the white,
dried split, marking exactly where | had been. Even when Sarah
joined me, | remember not thinking about much else than this
experience, repeating it until only a few bags of marble were left.

19 MAY 2011
PALAZZO BEMBO, VENICE, ITALY
SARAH GOLD

Because the Lee Ufan space had new linoleum, which we did not
want to ruin straight away, we had decided to lay down a layer of
tough plastic and a layer of special material—the one that looks
like the throw away fabric that is being used in the health sector—
which also acted as a safety to prevent people from slipping on the
stones. The neatly packed strong plastic bags, each weighing 25kg,
were looking at me when | walked passed to have a look in the
room. Because the stones were quite moist, only a first layer had
been spread on the floor, in order to give it a chance to dry. Awaiting
the next layer, the room started to get body and character; it was
coming alive. Together with Karlyn, | added another layer. The
closeness to the material, the purity of the marble, and the exercise
all did me well. It felt very good to lift the pack of purity, dropping
it on the floor with a certain force, cut the sack open with a Stanley
knife in a wide U-shape and tip over the bag to release the stones
on thefloor, to spread them equally with your bare hands achieving
an instant result. What result? The feeling of creation, being part of
shaping something meaningful.
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25 MAY 2011
PALAZZO BEMBO, VENICE, ITALY
SARAH GOLD

In Venice everything has to come by boat. Today we would
receive most of our shipments which had been collected in a
warehouse on the mainland. All was arranged with Barbara from
Interlinea with whom I shared so many emails and telephone calls
that you could speak of a ‘relationship’ without ever having met
each other. When the boat arrived the crew started to unload.
The first from Lee Ufan to come out was—and finally we knew
for certain—one very well packed painting. With a crane-jib the
medium size stone got lifted from the boat onto the quay. It was
flying in the air, strapped to a pallet. Now the size description of
medium looked so obvious. But still it was a stone and luckily we
had a functioning elevator in the Palazzo.

When it arrived at the second floor, the pallet was put on dollies
(those plates with rolling wheels attached) and wheeled to the
space where at least three men lifted the stone and placed it
where we thought it should be placed. The painting was—
still packed—Ileaning against the wall, being at ease in its new
surroundings. After the metal plate was brought in, | guess
that the weight was similar to the stone, around 250kg, but
less friendly, difficult to handle. We had the plate placed in the
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middle of the room, and in order to be able to lift it again, | had
placed two unpainted Boxes of Rene on one side; like the person,
unbreakable. The plastic that had been wrapped around it, was
taken off, freed and able to breathe this “silent monster”, was
what it was, an industrial produced metal plate. We left it to “rest”.

29 MAY 2011
PALAZZO BEMBO, VENICE, ITALY
SARAH GOLD

When we met Lee Ufan in December the year before, he had told
us, that he probably would not be able to come to the opening
because he would have to attend the setup of his solo exhibition
at the Guggenheim in New York. | remember having felt a little sad,
because it is nicest when the artist is there for setup and the opening
as well. It is also because PERSONAL STRUCTURES is alive, real and
sincere and by meeting or seeing the artist, the right people will
recognize how special this is, which will create positive dynamics.

We were in full set up mode, when Lee Ufan showed up. | was
happy to see him and he was in a good mood. We walked over to
his room where Rene had hung Lee Ufan's painting earlier. When
entering the space he became very serious, he spoke in Japanese
to Yuko Sakurai, maybe to express his thoughts more precise and
freely. It felt like all was wrong. But it turned out less dramatic than
it felt to me. The metal plate had to be re-placed, off center from the
paining. Together with Rene, Toshikatsu Endo (who was installing
his massive sculpture in the front of the building) and several other
people, we re-placed the plate. Also the stone had to be adjusted,
so its “face” was looking towards the plate and the stone—Relatum.
Lee Ufan looked pleased and satisfied and so were we.
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29 MAY 2011 -1 JUNE 2011
PALAZZO BEMBO, VENICE, ITALY
KARLYN DE JONGH

During the days before the opening we were extremely busy:
finishing the last installations, lighting, discussions with Joseph
Kosuth, giving tours to unexpected guests, such as Glinther Uecker,
and many, many other things. Lee Ufan arrived in Venice around this
time, before going to New York for the installation of his exhibition
at the Guggenheim. For a long time, it was uncertain whether he
would be able to visit Palazzo Bembo before flying off to New York
for his solo-exhibition at the Guggenheim, but a few weeks before
it was confirmed that he could come to Venice after all. Not exactly
sure when he would come to Palazzo Bembo, it was a great surprise
when he just came walking through the door. We greeted each other
heartily, like old friends. He seemed very happy to be here as well.
In between everything, we took the time for him. It was great to
show him around our ‘exhibition to be, sometimes meeting artists
who were putting the finishing touches on their work. Lee Ufan and
Kosuth did not seem to have met each other; with others, such as
Toshikatsu Endo, it was an interesting rendezvous.

The stone, metal plate and painting as well as the 2000kg of
Carrara marble were already in Lee Ufan’s space. We knew where
the painting was going to go—that one was easy—and of course
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the marble was already ‘done] but the stone and metal plate?
When walking into his room, Lee Ufan seemed to concentrate
on his installation. He looked at the painting and marble split,
commenting, “Good, good”. The rest was no good, yet. The stone
was lying on top of the metal plate; it had to be moved—it was
only a medium size, but still approximately 200kg. Lee Ufan
seemed to have a very clear idea of what he wanted. The metal
plate, which was oblique on one side, had to be turned 180° to
be with its widest side towards the painting. Now the place of
the stone was adjusted: it had to be moved a little bit away from
the metal plate in the direction of the wall opposite the painting.
And it had to be turned. Lee Ufan explained that, “the face of the
stone has to look that way,” and pointed in the direction of his
painting. At first, this way of expression surprised me, but then |
saw what Lee Ufan meant: a pointy, upwards-looking part of the
stone was indeed like a‘front’; compared to the rest of the stone,
it felt like a logical way to talk about it as the rest clearly was not
a‘face’ It was as if the stone was looking directly at the painting
now; starting with its ‘back’ on the marble, going in an upward
movement to the front. A few workers helped to place the stone
where Lee Ufan wanted it. “Ok, ok,” Lee Ufan said.

But when the workers left again to continue what they were
doing, Lee Ufan did not seem convinced yet. He looked carefully
at the stone and decided it had to be turned a few millimeters
to his right. On his own, this thin, fragile-looking man bent over
the stone, placed his arms around it and with what seemed all his
power, tried to move the stone. This was no success. For four heavy-
weights, it had already been difficult to move it; for Lee Ufan on his
own, this was impossible—of course, the marble split floor did not
help either. Lee Ufan stepped away from it, had another look at
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the stone’s position and waved his hands next to his body, “Ok, ok.”
He had another look and started—in a very gentle way—to flatten
the marble split next to the metal plate, sometimes removing
pieces that were ‘out of place’ It indeed looked cleaner. When he
straightened his back, he seemed satisfied: “Finished!”

It all went very quickly and there was still time to show Lee Ufan
the exhibition rooms he had not seen yet, like that of Tatsuo
Miyajima whose work was in one Lee Ufan had decided not to take.
In comparison to what he had seen a few months ago, the building
was transformed. He seemed to like it.

The next day Lee Ufan returned. | believe | was installing Lawrence
Weiner’s work, when he came to get me.“There is a big problem!
A big problem.” He immediately got my attention; a problem was
the last thing | needed, and especially for Lee Ufan. | thought of
some possible disasters, but nothing seemed plausible. Relaxed, |
followed Lee Ufan to his room.There he pointed to the lights, clar-
ifying their position was “no good.” This was an easy one to solve.
Someone got a ladder for us and started adjusting the position
of the lights. An extra light was needed and the assistant went to
get it. The ladder was free and Lee Ufan—as if it was nothing—
climbed up with the greatest ease and continued finding the
right lighting position: two spots, one on the stone and one on
the plate. With an extra floodlight on the painting, Lee Ufan was
happy. But there was another ‘problem’: the metal plate needed
to be rubbed in with a little bit of baby oil to make it shine. That
was the last thing; Lee Ufan’s room was done.

In the next days, Lee Ufan returned several times, with collectors
and the directors of his museum in Japan and his future
museum in Korea. Instead of shaking hands, we greeted each
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other with kisses now, which seemed a little bit unusual to him,
but pleasant enough to do as often as possible. They were nice
encounters, these surprise visits. Lee Ufan seemed to like being
in Palazzo Bembo and to be proud of his installation in our
exhibition, showing it to everybody. Unfortunately, there was so
much to do that we could not spend more time together. Also
at the opening, | recall seeing Lee Ufan and exchanging a few
words, but that was the last time | saw him.



30 AND 31 MAY 2011
PALAZZO BEMBO, VENICE, ITALY
SARAH GOLD

The last couple of days before the opening on Tuesday 31 May
were one rush. Organizing, getting things done; everything at
once. But | do remember that during these days, Lee Ufan came by
several times, each time bringing friends along. One time, he was
in such a cheerful mood, that he greeted me with open arms from
a distance, hugged me and kissed me on my cheeks, as old friends.
This was, for me, the ultimate proof that he was very happy with his
presentation and that he was feeling comfortable with us.
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1 JUNE - 27 NOVEMBER 2011
PALAZZO BEMBO, VENICE, ITALY
SARAH GOLD

Throughout the duration of the exhibition, Karlyn and | gave many
guided tours. It was interesting to see how different people reacted
upon the room created by Lee Ufan. Mattijs Visser from a.o. the
ZERO Foundation, who had even visited the Lee Ufan museum in
Japan, told us that this was the best display of the work he had ever
seen. Fumio Nanjo from the Mori Art Museum in Tokyo, the curator
of the Toyota museum Masahiro Aoki and many other Japanese
visitors liked that we had “Japanese” artists, such as Endo, Miyajima
and Lee Ufan in our exhibition. That was interesting and positive to
hear, because by Japanese tradition you have to be born Japanese,
you cannot become one.

For“western” visitors, | noticed that the will to understand, to leave
it open, not to judge, to take it as it is and see the relation between
the materials, the things, depended upon the type of person. And |
have to admit, that the type of human that did not like the work of
Lee Ufan, was also not my kind. But then again, you have to leave
people their opinions, who am | to judge?

As for the maintenance of the installation, we had been told, to
put a thin layer of oil on the metal plate. Baby oil works best, we
had been told by Tobias from Lisson gallery. So armed with a
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designated “Lee Ufan” cloth and the baby oil, the plate had to be
treated nearly every day, because for some reason, our visitors
liked walking over the metal plate and you could see their traces.
Interesting behaviour: by the work of Carl Andre, where it is no
problem to walk over it, people do not do it. And then when it
is not the idea—at least that is how | think it is—they do, do it.
Anyway, | think for many people, the Lee Ufan room has been a
special experience and | hope that it gave fuel for new thoughts,
new views without prejudice.

1 JUNE - 27 NOVEMBER 2011
PALAZZO BEMBO, VENICE, ITALY
KARLYN DE JONGH

Six full months Lee Ufan’s work was exhibited in our Venice Biennale
exhibition at Palazzo Bembo. | was there every day: 7 days a week
and at least 9 hours a day. Every morning | checked the installations
to see if everything was still alright, and of course each time | saw
Lee Ufan. To be honest, during these moments | did not really take
the time to look, the maximum was probably one minute. The only
time | spent there a bit longer, was when Roman Opalka had died.
We had been good friends and somehow Lee Ufan’s installation
gave me the comfort | was looking for. But also then, | did not
allow myself to spend much time there, because, there was always
so much going on. However, you could say each time they felt like
small encounters, at least to me. It was an interesting situation to see
the same installation every day and nice to come in the space and
experience. | do not recall any particular encounter. As | remember
it now from hindsight, each time it was like taking a deep breath. If
only for these few seconds, seeing Lee Ufan’s work gave a positivity,
peacefulness, liveliness and a feeling of freedom. The work never
became just an object; it stayed alive.

During the exhibition, | gave countless tours: to the president of Aus-
tria, the board members of the Guggenheim, Fumio Nanjo from Mori
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Art Museum in Tokyo, the friends of K20/21 in Diisseldorf, the sup-
porters of the Stadel in Frankfurt, many collectors, gallerists, museum
directors, press and students. Each time, | tried ‘explaining’Lee Ufan’s
concept of the art of encounter, giving in depth, or short general,
information (depending on the time) using a different vocabulary in
various languages (depending on the group). | loved doing this and
see the reactions of the visitors. It never became boring, not even
to say a similar thing over and over again. It was always as if it was
the first time, in the sense that | never repeated myself. It was nice
to be so often in that room. When entering, | heard the sound of
my footsteps change into a soft grinding. Sometimes | had to force
myself to speak louder, because of the peaceful atmosphere that
affected me so that | softened my voice.

Hearing myself speak about Lee Ufan, looking at his work and
recalling the personal encounters | had had with him, my respect
grew. | understood more and more of what he was saying and
noticed that it had a great effect on my life, on my character. ‘Lee
Ufan’ had turned from something general—something that | had
learned—into something personal: it became part of me.

The reactions of visitors were different, but the overall attitude
was a very positive one. The Lee Ufan experts all said it was a very
special installation, very simple. Many of them had come especially
to Venice to see it. Others who had never heard of Lee Ufan before,
reacted that it was a peaceful room, that they did not understand
anything of it, but that the work relaxed them. What surprises was
that some of the visitors walked over Lee Ufan’s metal plate, leaving
a trace of white marble powder. It may be understandable in an
exhibition where you first walk over the rolled steel plates from
Carl Andre and then see Lee Ufan’s work, but | was never attract-
ed to do it myself. | cleaned these traces with baby oil. It was nice
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doing this: feeling the plate under a towel and seeing the shine
return. The plate was very beautiful: its different colours, the little
lines inside and its shape. It was also quite large; my hand could
hardly reach the center. | had to kneel down next to it and clean it
from all sides. Doing this, made me more aware of the size of my
body in comparison to the plate as well as the installation as a total.
Kneeling down like this, also made me aware that the installation
was actually very ‘low”: in a way only the stone stuck out, having
the flat metal and the marble on the floor and the flat painting on
the wall; there was a lot of ‘unused space’.

In the last few weeks of the exhibition, we slowly started to focus
on the transportation of the works back to the artists as well as on
future projects. | did not organize the transportation, but the people
who did, showed me Lee Ufan’s warehouse on Google Earth. Later |
realized this must be his‘secret’ warehouse in Paris, the one Mr Moon
had told me about. It was strange to see: the quiet street, the fence
that did not seem so difficult to open and then the number of stones
that were lying behind it, as well as some metal plates. It looked like
nothing special, just stones lying randomly behind a fence. Thinking
about the approximate value of Lee Ufan’s installation, seeing this
and knowing that ‘our’ stone would end up there, raised interesting
questions about ‘context’ and ‘location. As Joseph Kosuth said:
“Location, location, location...”

In in-between moments, | read some of Lee Ufan’s text in The Art of
Encounter, the book | had received from Lisson Gallery. | read only
a few texts. We had been working non-stop the past 18 months
and | was so exhausted that | could not really focus on reading Lee
Ufan’s philosophy; the letters were dancing in front of my eyes and
the content did not stay in my mind for more than a few seconds.
Instead, | read his encounters with a.o. Giuseppe Penone, Piet
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Mondrian and Ulrich Rickriem: the texts were simple, honest and
unpretentious. | especially liked the text of Lee Ufan’s encounter
with a work by Richard Serra: it was mainly the story describing
what happened, without giving much ‘background knowledge’
or any critique. | worry too much sometimes and, now it became
time to start writing them down, | had been worrying about my
encounters with Lee Ufan. My encounters were the way they were,
but | had often worried that for a reader it might not be interesting
enough. Reading Lee Ufan’s encounters meant for me, that there
was a chance for my own encounters: also Lee Ufan describes
situations in his life in a simple way and so, perhaps he would like
reading mine. Like always, | just had to let them be.

22 SEPTEMBER 2011
PALAZZO BEMBO, VENICE, ITALY
SARAH GOLD

| was getting pretty tired of being at the palazzo seven days a
week non-stop, but afterwards | was very happy that | was there
that day. | believe it was our operational manager Davide De Carlo,
who came into the office and told us that the wife of Lee Ufan was
visiting our exhibition. When she came into the office, she looked
like a dear elderly Japanese lady. Is she Japanese? | do not know.
But she made a very nice impression, soft, understanding. We
told her about the book we are making with Lee Ufan and that,
because of the high cost, we only can print it, if Lee Ufan signs
100 copies, in order to sell them for a higher price. Her answer to
that was not very reassuring, “Muzukashii” she said, which means
something like “difficult”in Japanese, which in reality means more
like impossible.
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22 SEPTEMBER 2011
PALAZZO BEMBO, VENICE, ITALY
KARLYN DE JONGH

On 22 September 2011, we had organized a brunch for a group
of Belgian collectors on the first floor of Palazzo Bembo, which
was followed by a tour by Sarah and me on the second floor, our
PERSONAL STRUCTURES exhibition. Around 3 o'clock, when the
Belgians had just left, | went downstairs to pick up something |
had forgotten. In front of the closed door at the first floor stood a
Japanese woman, about 40cm shorter than | am—I am quite tall
anyway and was also wearing high heels. For as far as | could tell,
she looked approximately 65 years old and seemed a little helpless.
“Exhibition?” she asked. | softly guided her upstairs.

When | returned to the second floor a minute later, the same
woman was in discussion with one of the students who was
working for us. | checked what was going on. Apparently the lady
wanted free entrance. “Sure,” | said. “My husband’s work is in this
exhibition,” she explained. It was not likely to be anybody else and
indeed her husband was Lee Ufan. | was very happy that | came
walking in at that moment, that | had a chance to meet her.“Where
is my husband’s work?"Together we walked through the exhibition.
| wanted to take the opportunity to tell her about our project and
show herthe exhibition andits location, so | did not take a direct line
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to Lee Ufan. We took a little detour, via Toshikatsu Endo, Carl Andre,
Arnulf Rainer and the view over the Canal Grande. In the meantime,
| slowly explained about PERSONAL STRUCTURES, the philosophi-
cal topics it addresses, that we offer artists a platform to speak
about these topics and that we organize symposia, exhibitions and
especially make books. It was clear she did not speak much English,
but | think we both tried our best to communicate. At least, when
she told me Lee Ufan fitted well in what we were doing, | took it as
a confirmation that she had understood. | had the feeling she liked
the exhibition, but that her eagerness to see Lee Ufan’s installation
was stronger. So, we went through relatively quickly.

When we passed Francois Morellet, | announced Lee Ufan’s room.
Not sure whether she could enter, she halted at the entrance,
the point from where you can only see the painting, the metal
plate and, of course, the marble split on the floor. “Dozo, dozo,
| said, making a gesture that she could enter. With a Japanese
surprise reaction, she carefully stepped on the marble. Another
surprise came when she saw the stone, then she slowly moved
her head in all directions. “Very special,” she said. And then: “So
simple.” She quietly and carefully walked through the space,
seemingly taking everything in, softly repeating: “So simple..." It
was wonderful to see her move like that and | quietly observed
her: a little bit bent, taking conscious, cautious steps, looking all
around her.“The marble is new."| had never seen any image of an
installation in which Lee Ufan used marble (or a different kind of
split) like this, but | figured that did not mean anything. Hearing
Lee Ufan’s wife mentioning it, was for me a confirmation that Lee
Ufan really made something special for us.

When Ifeltit was alright to say something again, | asked her whether
she had already been to Palazzo Grassi to see Lee Ufan’s installation
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there. She had. “But this one is more special. It's better,’ she added.
To be honest, | was happy to hear that. | felt that in comparison
to Palazzo Grassi we were like ‘the underdog’: with relatively little
money we managed to make an impressive exhibition. It may
sound naive—or like wishful thinking—but hearing her say this,
felt as if we have a connection with Lee Ufan that Palazzo Grassi
could never have.

Lee Ufan’s wife stopped looking at the work and opened her bag.
A camera came out, which she handed over to me. “Please, take
a photo.” She tried to take the most central position in the room.
She straightened her back and stood there as a strong, proud and
serious woman. | took a few photos of her, and included as much of
the installation as possible. | figured she wanted to have the proof
that she had seen her husband’s work.

We continued with the rest of the exhibition: Lawrence Weiner,
Marina Abramovi¢, SASAKI, Roman Opalka and in the last room
Tatsuo Miyajima. | asked her whether she knew Miyajima. “Yes,
he is a funny man.” She told me a story about him that | do not
really remember.

Slowly, we return in the direction of the entrance. When passing
Lee Ufan, again she says, “So simple...”In passing the other rooms,
she looked in to the installation was presented there. | invited her
for a Prosecco on the couch and showed her the publications
we made: Lee Ufan’s pages in the exhibition catalogue and the
pages of our Tokyo symposium with Japanese text as well as the
interviews with Miyajima and Lee Ufan. She seemed to like it very
much. Rene joined us and showed her in great detail the books
we had published until then, as part of our PSAP series: Lawrence
Weiner, Hermann Nitsch, Roman Opalka and On Kawara. Rene
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speaks a little Japanese; she understood very well and came
herself with the thought of bringing Lee Ufan in this series. We
told her we would love to, that we in fact were already working on
it, but that it would not be easy to get what we need: Lee Ufan’s
signature. “Hmmm, muzukashii...” | do not speak Japanese, but
I knew this one... and it means ‘very difficult’ She had to smile
about it herself and promised to try her best.

Lee Ufan's wife wanted to continue her way to Palazzo Fortuny.
She did not know where it was and | offered to join her. Together
we walked over to Fortuny. It was interesting to be with her like
that. We could only communicate in a very basic way, but while
talking | remember thinking what a nice woman she is, what a
warm atmosphere she has. We chatted a little: about good shoes
for walking in Venice, about her daughter who arrived the day
before, about her plans for the upcoming days and how she liked
Venice. She told me she does not travel so often, but that she
had been in Venice four years ago, when Lee Ufan had his solo
exhibition at Palazzo Palumbo Fossati, but that she still gets lost.
Laughing, she told me that already after the second corner, she
did not know where she was anymore.

Fortuny was getting closer and | felt | needed to try to take my
chance to ask her more information about Lee Ufan. At that
moment, | wanted to know how it is for her to encounter Lee Ufan’s
work, knowing him and his work so very well. It was not easy to
make my question understandable; | tried it in several ways. But
it did not matter. Lee Ufan’s wife was talkative and did her best to
answer the questions she thought | was asking. From her answers
I understood that they were already together in the time that Lee
Ufan was still writing texts for Mono-ha, before he made his first
work, over 40 years ago. She smiles and tells me that Lee Ufan is
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“very difficult”. “He always goes his own way, always choosing the
difficult way. Sometimes | wonder why. But he does not deviate
from his path.” When we reach Palazzo Fortuny, she halts: “Now,
Lee Ufan's work became more simple. He found peace.”



20 NOVEMBER 2011
PALAZZO GRASSI, VENICE, ITALY
KARLYN DE JONGH

Today | took an afternoon off. Next week would be the last day
of our exhibition. | was very tired, oversensitive and floating. Not
good. | remembered so many enthusiastic stories from visitors to
our exhibition, on the show in Palazzo Grassi and so | went there.
But | was so floating, that | had completely forgotten about Lee
Ufan's presentation there. | did not have any particular reason to go
there, besides having the chance to not being in our own exhibition
and at the same time doing something art-related. Most important
for me at that moment was that Grassi had heating. After having
spent hours and hours in our cold Palazzo, it was great to be warm.

| walked through the building, seeing many things | did not know
what to do with. Some rooms were nice, such as the ones from
Giuseppe Penone and Takashi Murakami. Then after having seen
almost the entire exhibition, | noticed Lee Ufan’s paintings. It was
the last room. It struck me like lightning. Although | knew about
this installation, | was so tired that | did not expect seeing it at all
and nearly bumped against the Ger van Elk work that was in the
room between Lee Ufan and where | was standing.

The exit was in the Ger van Elk room. Lee Ufan’s room, however,
was the last one in the exhibition. So, Lee Ufan's room had a
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‘door’ on one side only. It was a quiet place, allowing for peaceful
observation. The wall directly opposite the entrance, had three
canvasses on it, covering half of the wall. The installation consisted
of a total of twelve small paintings, each approximately 40 x 50cm.
They were hanging in a 3-6-3 combination, in a U-shape: the 3
and 3 were facing each other; the 6 were facing me. This time,
the brushstrokes were quite large in comparison to the size of the
canvas. The canvases were hanging at eye level. The top of the
canvas was almost as high as the top of my head, which meant
that | was looking down to the brushstrokes. From first glance, the
paintings seemed very similar. For a short moment, the ‘repetition’
reminded me of Andy Warhol’s work. | wondered why Lee Ufan had
made it like this. It felt like an unusual Lee Ufan.

The brushstrokes seemed to have the same size, the same color and
the same place on the canvas. The left part of all brushstrokes, was
white; the right part was grey. And almost every brushstroke had a
transition line from white to gray in its center. Although they were
all slightly different, they did seem to function and feel as one total.
It was almost as if you could not compare them. Maybe they were
for me now one total encounter, but | wondered how it must have
been for Lee Ufan to make them. Were these indeed 12 different
encounters? Does he consider them to be 12 different paintings? Or
could you speak of one encounter, one work, consisting of 12 ele-
ments or moments?

| wondered about how he conceived of this idea. What did he want
with this installation? Did he come up with the idea first? Would he
be making this type of series of small paintings more often? The
encounters Lee Ufan must have had that resulted in this series of
paintings, seemed similar, as if they were painted on the same day
in approximately the same situation. How much time would Lee

188

Ufan need to paint one work? Did he paint the white background
colour? | did not recall having seen any unpainted canvases in his
studio, | mean having a white layer, but without a brushstroke on it
and thought he ordered them, ready-made.

| experienced the situation with all my senses: hearing, seeing,
feeling the atmosphere in the space. | looked at the paintings, the
courtyard they were facing, the room itself; | heard the zooming
sound of the ventilation system, the voices of the other people
in the room, the footsteps of the guard; there was no particular
smell here. My thoughts went criss cross, in all directions. | was just
experiencing the work and finding it very difficult to say something
about it, like always. There were many pauses between the
sentences | spoke into my voice recorder. Whatever this encounter
might be, | was experiencing the work.

But it felt as if my brain was shut off. As if | had an iron plate in my
head, that there was something that | could not reach, that | could
not grasp or understand. | had the feeling | was missing the point:
that something else is there, a thought or idea, something that is
very relevant in experiencing Lee Ufan, but that | could not reach it,
that | kept missing it. Maybe the answer‘l do not know’ is the best
answer in relation to philosophical questions, because then you
stay open, constantly questioning again without fixing yourself to
a certain‘belief"

This time, however, my feeling of 'l do not know’ was slightly dif-
ferent. Perhaps because of my tiredness, this time it was more the
feeling that | am not ‘there’ yet, that | am missing the ‘knowledge,
that | might still be a little too young and inexperienced to un-
derstand. Without the wish to defend myself, of course, also Lee
Ufan needed time to develop himself. Roman Opalka and Tatsuo
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Miyajima too, after years of searching, they came up with their
main concept around the age of 35. It takes time.

A little later | looked at the painting that was hanging on the
utmost right, and saw that it was marked “12 12 10 L. Ufan". Only
that canvas was signed, the others were not. So, maybe Lee Ufan
does see it as one work? Maybe all these paintings were made
on 12 December 2010? Or would the date indicate the day it was
finished? | did not recall seeing a specific date on any other of Lee
Ufan’s works that | had seen, not in reality, nor in any books. Could
it be that he made one painting each hour?

I wonder about the wooden construction that he uses to paint the
large works. How would he have made these small works? Does he
make a vertical installation, like Arnulf Rainer does? Or does he still
put the canvas on the floor? Thinking again about Lee Ufan in his
studio, | did not believe these works were made on the floor. If he
had placed the canvas on the floor, he would have almost had to
hold it with his feet—or use another ‘system’'—to prevent it from
sliding. Thinking about the date, | realized that the works were
painted only three days after he had visited us in Palazzo Bembo
last year. There had been only a very short time, three days, be-
tween meeting us and painting these works. Would that have had
any influence? How does the past influence Lee Ufan when he is
in the moment of making an encounter? Thinking about this, the
work appeared different to me.

Often | am so much in my head, that | tend to ‘forget’ my
surroundings. This time, being in Lee Ufan's room at Palazzo
Grassi, | tried focusing on my surroundings also and not only on
the paintings on the wall. Maybe because the 12 paintings were
hanging in an embracing way, it was relatively easy to focus more
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on the surroundings. | noticed people coming into the room,
while thinking about the idea of ‘being here now’ | was aware
of the location | was at, the room in Palazzo Grassi in Venice,
and what | was doing: looking at Lee Ufan’s paintings, having an
encounter and recording this encounter for our next Art Project.
However, being in the moment then, everything else seemed
to move to the background, it seemed to lose importance. How
would that be for Lee Ufan? He has so many years of experience...
Probably, after you have reached a certain development in your
own character, your way of expression—you—does not change
so much anymore: ‘this is who you are’

| did not know whether | found the work beautiful or not. It was just
there. In this moment, to me, the work was stronger than | was. It felt
as if Iwas the 13t painting, the 13 living entity in the space. It was as
if | was surrounded by these paintings, they were like arms taking me
in. It had the connotation of these buildings, such as the Louvre in
Paris, with side-wings: majestic and powerful, taking you in, without
the possibility to escape. On this small scale, for me it was almost
more powerful, because it was close-by. When taking a little more
distance, however, Lee Ufan’s works did not seem so comforting
anymore, they seemed more like an army. Unlike the installation
at our Palazzo Bembo, this work missed the pleasant surroundings,
the total space experience. | did not feel | was inside this work, not
surrounded by it and therefore it stayed on a distance.

This army of paintings was facing me and the roof-covered
courtyard with a giant, dramatic sculptural work made out
of cloth, behind me, ready to attack. On the other side of the
courtyard, there was a potato-house from Sigmar Polke and next
to it an installation from Charles Ray, from a man, a woman, boy
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and girl standing next to each other on the same height. Lee Ufan
felt serious in comparison. The simplicity of his work seemed to be
its strength. To me, the installation Lee Ufan had in our exhibition
seemed, however, even simpler, more natural. This installation at
Palazzo Grassi somehow felt forced.

The repetitiveness of the works did not feel natural. It did not
feel as if Lee Ufan was presenting me ‘the way it is, just letting
the materials speak for themselves, just letting it be. Looking at
the installation, | felt distant from Lee Ufan. In other cases, | felt
very much drawn to the work, wanting to touch, wanting to get
as close as possible and swallow it in, experience it with all my
senses. This time | did not have that feeling. It was quite static:
“l exist, | exist, | exist...” 12 times, each work was almost like a
person, an entity. But it did not feel as if the person Lee Ufan was
so strongly present.

The installation seemed like a presentation, showing that
each encounter is actually different, as if Lee Ufan was actively
teaching something to his audience: showing that it might look
like the same painting, but it is not. And indeed, Lee Ufan’s pre-
sentation in Palazzo Grassi was a good way to show the differ-
ences in encounters. Somehow it was not boring at all to look at
12 similar works. It was a strong, massive presentation that was
almost coming towards you—but at the same time, it did not
touch me that much.

With regard to the way the paintings were placed, they reminded
me of Rene’s Boxes: so strict and careful. 28 lights were pointed
towards them. The light was quite yellowish, making the white
walllook yellow too. From a distance, the canvasses looked almost
brown. | liked it that you could see the shadow and light around
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these small canvasses. Because of the thickness of the canvasses,
the light reflected on the top. It was almost as if there was a neon
placed inside the painting, lighting the top of the canvas. At the
bottom, there was quite a heavy shadow. The floor was gray and a
little bit polished and therefore mirroring the paintings. Because
of this reflection, it was almost as if it was double.

Slowly walking towards the works again, | looked at the shadows.
The brushstroke was so thick on the top, that you could see the
shadow of this line on the painting. It felt very much constructed,
the brushstroke. | remembered a conversation | had about this
with one of the visitors to our exhibition. In that way, the tiny
painting that | saw on the Art Basel last year was much more pow-
erful: a spontaneous, single brush stroke, just one time touching
the canvas—or so it seemed. As if it was just a lick of paint on the
canvas, really just a brushstroke.

The brushstrokes on these paintings at Palazzo Grassi did not
simply say “l am”, in the sense of one mark. Although it might be a
cultural difference between me and Lee Ufan, | agree with Opalka
in that way and think that the only critique | have at the moment
about Lee Ufan’s work is the construction of the brushstroke. Be-
cause of it being constructed, it is static and loses its liveliness, its
spontaneity and the simplicity that it pretends to have. Not that it
really matters: in whatever way Lee Ufan made it, it is still a mark
of his existence.

After having looked at the work for some time, | read a plasticized
leaflet giving some information about Lee Ufan:

“Lee Ufan born in Korea in 1936, studied Oriental painting in Seoul
before settling in Japan in 1956, where he studied philosophy.
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In the late 60s, Lee emerged as the key theorist of Mono-ha, a
materials-based movement that developed in Tokyo. The Mono-ha
artists created simple installations from natural materials, such as
stone, glass, rubber or iron plates that they presented together
as much as possible in an un-altered state, and allowing the
juxtaposition of these materials to speak for themselves. They
aimed at making the viewer aware of his position in space in
relation to that of the work.

To create his works in the Dialogue-series, Lee Ufan lays his canvases
on the floor marking their white surfaces with a stroke of gray-black
oil paint mixed with mineral pigment. They are characterized by blank
spaces resulting from the artist’s decision to leave areas “un-made”.

The viewer must bridge the off-white canvas and the white walls
of the gallery space as well as the light, air and shadow that fall
in and around the work to achieve a sense of continuity between
the works and their surroundings. These paintings, best viewed
with time and silence, offer a calming moment of reflection at
the close of the exhibition.”

It was becoming darker in the space. After spending more than one
hour with Lee Ufan’s installation, | thought it might be better to
leave. | did not realize time had been passing so quickly. There were
no longer new thoughts, just a ‘repetition’ of previous thoughts
and experiences. Like every time encountering Lee Ufan, | had the
feeling that | should stay. For some reason, it is not easy for me to
move away from the work. | do not know whether it is because
of the strength of the work or because of my own difficulties with
saying goodbye.To me, leaving Lee Ufan's work is almost like saying
goodbye to another person, when you know that you might never
see him again. Although | normally do not have any difficulties
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letting things go, itis very hard for me to let somebody go. Also this
time, | really did not have anything to say anymore, but it would
still take me another 15 minutes to actually leave. It is almost as if it
is impolite to leave, as if | am leaving the work alone, in the sense of
letting it down—now | come to think of it: that is quite Japanese,
thinking that the work has a life too. | was basically waiting for the
museum to close, just to have an excuse to leave.



26 NOVEMBER 2011
PALAZZO BEMBO, VENICE, ITALY
KARLYN DE JONGH

Tomorrow is the final day of our Venice Biennale exhibition, that was
here in Palazzo Bembo for six months. | am now in the main space,
where | spent most of my time these past months: sitting on the couch
trying to meet as many people as possible, to see who they are in the
hope of possible new cooperation. It is now 6:52pm. The exhibition is
closed. Everybody went home; | am alone. All the lights, TVs and other
installations are already switched off. Except for the Lee Ufan room.
Because now at this very moment, | feel | have to take my chance to
spend some time with Lee Ufan. An encounter with a work that | have
seen almost every day, since its realization here in our Palazzo. It is
my last chance and in the past six months, | have not really spent any
time with Lee Ufan's installation. | decide to have the encounter just
like that: speaking in my voice recorder, letting my thoughts come,
communicating my experience directly as time is passing.

Slowly, I am walking towards Lee Ufan’s room, passing the dark
spaces with the artworks of Joseph Kosuth, Hermann Nitsch,
Francois Morellet... It is incredibly cold here. | am wearing three
layers of thick clothes and a cape, but still | am freezing. My hands
are almost dead. | am actually a little nervous. | do not know why;
there is no reason for it at all.
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When | arrive in the Lee Ufan space, | become quiet and stop
at the entrance, standing on the little wooden bar that we
made to keep the Carrara marble inside the room. | look at the
installation, itis just there... | do not want to say: “beautiful”, that
feels‘too easy’ | do not know... There is something about it. It is
just special; it just takes over and forces a different atmosphere
upon you—silent power.

There is 2000 kilo of Carrara marble on the floor. The marble, you
can see that many people have walked over it. It is not straight any-
more. | enter the space and hear the change in sound. The sound is
different inside. | hear the grinding of the stone under my feet and
the change in the sound of my voice. | hear it differently. It is muted.

It is perhaps because | am wearing boots with stiletto heels, but
standing in this space is an interesting experience: you somehow
have to deal with the fact that you cannot stand here—Ilam not sure
how it would be with flat shoes on. In a way, it is uncomfortable.
I am balancing on a small piece of stone. When moving too much,
the stone will slip away, making me drop down a few centimeters.
There is approximately 5cm of marble here; my heels are also
approximately 5cm high, but | do not think | am reaching the floor.
After slipping away like that, | start balancing on my forefoot until |
feel secure enough again to stand on my heels too.

Somebody has just walked over the metal plate: the plate
shows footprints of white marble dust. | kneel down to look at
it. Probably, because we have a work of Carl Andre in one of the
other rooms, people just sometimes walk over it. | have not done
it. Normally, when it is clean, it is such a beautiful plate, with
such beautiful colors. There is a reddish grey, a bluish grey, and
a whitish yellowish grey... Apart from the work by Richard Serra
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at Dia Beacon, | cannot recall ever having noticed the beauty of
metal as such—besides its functionality—before having seen this
plate. The part of the metal plate that is closest to the painting is
really so beautiful, a bluish black. You could just hang it on the
wall and it would be a wonderful installation.

The surface of the plate is so smooth and shiny that | do not even
feel tempted to walk over it. But then | must admit that | used to
have difficulties with the Carl Andre, but that is over now. By the
way, it was nice to see that when | showed Roman Opalka the
exhibition, he took a BIG step over the Andre. There was “too much
respect”to step onit, he claimed—Carl Andre being one of Opalka’s
five ‘true’ artists. But the Lee Ufan plate... Even during the times
that | was rubbing it in with baby oil, | did not lean with one hand
in order to reach certain parts with my other hand. | went around it
in order to reach the center from as many angles as necessary. But
| never touched the plate with my bare hands.

Everything in the room is slightly off center: the brush stroke on
the painting, the metal plate, which is also cut in an unusual shape
(not square, not rectangular, taper on each side, but not on each
side the same) is off center. | like the marks from the visitors on
the plate. But | must admit: it irritated me quite often during the
past months. | wanted the work to be like Lee Ufan had chosen it
to be. With so many ‘important’ people coming to see the exhibi-
tion, most of the times unannounced, | wanted the work to be
‘perfect’at any moment. So, | was the one cleaning the plate with
baby-oil each time a visitor left his mark on it. A white trace: the
marble powder sticks to the bottom of your shoes and the foot-
prints are like a trace showing that at another moment in time,
there were also people in this space. Does it make a difference for

199



my perception of the work? | do not know. At the moment, | feel
it is still ‘the same thing’ | had a discussion about this with Rene
Rietmeyer. He told me that when there are too many fingerprints
on his Boxes, he paints over the work, because the prints get too
much in the way of the work being an expression of himself. If
there are only a few fingerprints, he lets them be. When | see my
own notebook, which | left lying close to the metal plate, it seems
like a mark of myself in the installation. A trace of myself. It is very
orange, a color | chose. Maybe this is the same as the footprints:
small traces of other people in the space.

Itis interesting how... Every time | am with a Lee Ufan work, | have
difficulties finding words and describing what | feel and think. | am
hungry and start eating an apple. In my other hand, | take some
of the marble. Its color is so very beautiful. I like it that it leaves
a mark on your hand when you have touched it. The inside of
my hand is white. The sound of falling marble on the floor is soft.
I like touching the marble somehow. | do not know why. It gives a
strange, burning feeling on my skin. | also like its sound while walk-
ing over it. Although it consists of thousands of small little stones,
the floor feels almost flat, it feels solid together, but when you walk
over it with the shoes | am wearing, it is ‘complicated"

Looking at the medium-size stone, | see again how beautiful it s lit.
It really stands out. It is like a star, with this white spotlight oniit. It is
like in the theater, where somebody is really standing out because
of the strong light on him. | remember what Lee Ufan said about
the face of the stone. It seems a little strange to me (still) to think
that a stone might have a face, but looking at it, it does make sense.

My thoughts seem to go from one place to the other, without any
direction. Sometimes, | feel | am not thinking at all. | am just blank.
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Speaking directly in my voice recorder, this time | experience this
feeling of ‘not-knowing’ stronger than in the other encounters |
have had. Perhaps this confrontation with ‘I do not know’ would
be there as well if |, at another point in time, would take a moment
alone to relax and think about life. Maybe it is not so connected
with Lee Ufan as | have described it in previous encounters. Maybe
it is more connected to the moment of ‘pause’ that the encounter
most of the times is. They stand out of the fast, pressured speed of
life. Since | started working with PERSONAL STRUCTURES my life
developed very quickly; I, my character, developed very quickly.
It is around the same time that | started to become acquainted
with Lee Ufan and started this project, collecting my encounters
with him. Not that | feel on a daily basis that my life is so difficult.
Rather | feel lucky to have the opportunities | have. It is just not
always so easy to be 31 years old and work on international top
level in the world of contemporary art. | feel there are still millions
of things that | have to learn.

Walking closer to the stone, | see the carvings, the effect of time.
It has a beautiful, interesting shape: roundish, but also almost
rectangular. It has brownish lines going across. Trying to describe
the stone, | realize | cannot say anything about it: | can say
something about its color and shape, but basically | have no clue
about nature. But | like it. It feels like a friendly stone. It has many
interesting angles. | walked around the stone several times the past
months, but looking at it more closely now, | can imagine why Lee
Ufan chose this particular side as the “face” of the stone. The other
side is quite flat and has a downwards-shape. The shape of the face
is upwards; it is as if it is looking up to the painting.

Standing behind the stone, looking in the direction of the painting,
the room really feels as a closed space. The entrance is hidden.
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I am just seeing the white walls. It is a fantastic feeling. You can
just be here, be only here, without realizing that you are inside
a much larger Palazzo, an exhibition space where during the
opening times 100s of people are inside. It is like an isolation cell.
You do not notice anything other than what is here. A good choice!
The room has many memories connected to it. | remember having
painted the plinth and electricity line. The whole set-up of the
exhibition. It were interesting times... Standing here in this small
corner, where no one can see, | remember the moment | had here
with Arnulf Rainer. It was during the opening days in June. He was
here every day between 28 May and 4 June. Once, | was giving a
tour to some visitors. When | was done, he called me away telling
me he really liked Lee Ufan's space: “Look, | found a nice corner
here” Memories from the past.

The stone has glitters on it. They really shine, with this spotlight
on it. The light is quite strong and makes the marble under and
around the stone look very white. Especially, because there is
not so much light shining on the marble. Lee Ufan arranged the
spotlights to light the painting, the metal plate and the stone, but
thatis it. Because of the spotlight, the stone feels alive. Immediately,
| remember what Tatsuo Miyajima told me about stones having a
life as well. It always sounded a little strange to me to think about
a stone in this way, but looking at Lee Ufan’s stone here, shining
in the light the way it is standing out, the way it is presented here,
it becomes alive. It has such a beautiful structure. It feels like a
mountain on its own, like a world in itself. | feel like sitting next to it
and looking to the painting together.

Sitting next to the stone, the metal plate seems less shiny. You do
not see the footprints. It looks much softer. The metal plate has the
same shape as Lee Ufan’s brushstroke, sort of. But thinking about
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the brushstroke, immediately brings me back to the stone next
to me—because of the ground stone pigment that Lee Ufan said
he uses. The colour of Lee Ufan’s brushstrokes always looks sort
of similar to me, but maybe that is not true. What kind of stone-
pigment would he use to make this brushstroke?

You cannot stand in the center of the painting, because the stone
is placed there. You always look at it from an angle. Somehow, |
do not want to stand in front of the stone and choose a position
behind it. Everything seems off center, although | am in doubt
about the painting in this respect. The top of the fake wall on which
the painting is hanging, is remarkable in comparison to the line of
the ceiling. Everything suddenly seems to be strangely placed. It
feels everything is moving. Again Miyajima. | would probably have
placed everything centered, but Lee Ufan did not.

I lean against the wall and feel the cold coming through my clothes.
It would probably have been quite boring if everything had been
straight and centered. Maybe it is too bold to say that. Maybe
because | am still balancing on my forefeet, that everything feels
to be in motion. Maybe that is why | cannot look at one thing for
a long time and my mind, my eyes go from one thing to the next.
I am very cold. “Lee Ufan’, | am reading his name in the room. The
more | think about him and know about his work, the more respect
and admiration | feel for him. | am learning more and more about
myself as well, of course. That also helps. | mean, it is not only from
looking at his work, but also when thinking about how | am, how |
live my life, the way | am trying to be a good human being...

In the tours | have given, | kept taking the stone as the example
of how to understand Lee Ufan’s work and now,at last, | have
taken a longer time to look at it myself. It really is different ev-
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ery time. In my head, | sometimes hear Hermann Nitsch’s music.
It is switched off, but | can still hear it in the back of my head.
The music from the 130. Aktion... | think about Rainer and the
moments | spent with him. He will probably call me tonight.
How many interesting people | met in this space: Essl, Fumio
Nanjo... My thoughts are drifting away again. Last week, in
Palazzo Grassi, | believe | was quite focused on the installation
there. The work was powerful, like an army of little paintings.
This work here in Palazzo Bembo is not more or less power-
ful, but | just feel comfortable being around it. Maybe it is also
because here | have many memories connected to it, different,
short encounters that all add up in the experience of the work.
They are all part of the whole feeling.

Lee Ufan is so strong that he can very much keep me in the present.
This may sound a little contradictory to what | said before, and
the moments where | am drifting away with my thoughts. But
normally | would probably never spend so much time with artwork
work of art, at least not a contemporary ‘conceptual’ work. It often
becomes too boring too quickly. Not like with a painting by an old
master, where you can spend hours looking at all the little details
in a Breughel painting, for example. | am sitting here in this space
already for 45 minutes.

In a few days this will all be gone... One year after Lee Ufan visited
this room, the installation will go back to Paris. Well, Miyajima just
feels very appropriate at the moment: life keeps changing—even
‘keep changing’ keeps changing. | do not feel sad about it. It is just
part of life. | also do not feel emotional about spending this last
moment with Lee Ufan's work. | feel the installation has become
part of me, part of my life. | feel very natural in the space. Maybe
because | already experienced it for six months. | feel comfortable
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with it. That is all | can say. The work is a part of my life that will end
tomorrow. Part of Lee Ufan’s work that will cease to exist.

Maybe | do feel a little melancholic now. But then again: | am
tired, cold and hungry and it is nearly 8 o'clock. Maybe it is just
time to go home.



28 NOVEMBER 2011
PALAZZO BEMBO, VENICE, ITALY
SARAH GOLD

Our exhibition is over, and all the works got packed and prepared
for shipment. A shipper from Germany had sent some of their men
to prepare certain works for transportation. Rene had offered them
to take the little stones from the Lee Ufan room, for their garden
in Germany. | was amazed and happy at the same time, to see that
one of the men, a young boy, really did take the marble split. He
was shoveling for hours with a dustpan, filling cardboard boxes
with the stones and taping them tightly closed. He was totally
white, which reminded me of how our car looked like when Rene
and | drove through the marble mountains in Pietrasanta.

Finally, all the works were ready for shipment and the boat was
loaded. | remember very well, that the last piece to be lifted from
the quay was the medium size stone. | realized that we did not
strap it to the pallet, but then again, it was not going anywhere.
The jib crane neatly placed the stone on deck, just behind the
cabin. Many feelings were going through me at that moment,
but mainly | felt relieved.
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19 JANUARY -9 FEBRUARY 2012
PALAZZO BEMBO, VENICE, ITALY
KARLYN DE JONGH

Writing this book was an encounter in itself. As with the text for
our Venice Biennale exhibition catalogue, | tried formulating
my thoughts as clearly as | could. It was interesting to notice
the differences in myself and how strongly each encounter—
also writing it down—is influenced by the situation you are in.
In any case, | tried to write down my thoughts as honestly and
openly as possible. There are probably still many mistakes inside
and, if | would have had more time, | might have been able to
‘understand’Lee Ufan better. For this book, my encounters do not
really ‘explain’ anything about Lee Ufan (which was also not the
objective), but | do hope that some of them touch upon relevant
topics or questions in relation to his work. The encounters do
show me, how | am at this point in time and how | was at the
moment of experiencing them. Writing them down, felt as if | was
coming closer to Lee Ufan.

Thinking about Lee Ufan now, writing my last encounter for this
book, many questions go through my head: What would Lee Ufan
think when he will be reading this, my thoughts in encountering
him? How would it be for him to encounter his own oeuvre? How
would Lee Ufan see his own development, in his work and as a
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human being? How would he look back at his life? Would he, like
Arnulf Rainer, consider art to be more important than life? Would
he have had a satisfying life or are there things he regrets to have
done? Now being 76 years old, would Lee Ufan have something
that he would still like to experience? Would he have had an
encounter that is particularly strong in his memory? How would
he look at the work that he is making today, having possibly less
physical power, but more experience? And how would it have been
for him to make his first work? What would be his motive in life?
Creating his work or bringing a message across?... And | hope this
questioning will never stop

2 FEBRUARY 2012
SAN MARCO 4700, VENICE, ITALY
SARAH GOLD

On the second of February, | started to write down this text.
Interesting to find out, what stays in one’s memory, and to
realize the many things you forget, lost forever. But | do think
that the more impressive and pure aspects stay, could | say “the
essence” oris that naive? Nevertheless, | decided to have one last
encounter, a fresh one.
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5 FEBRUARY 2012
PALAZZO GRASSI, VENICE, ITALY
SARAH GOLD

| am ashamed to admit, but | had never been to Palazzo Grassi
before, so now to have one last encounter with Lee Ufan gave a
good stimulus and reason to go. The palazzo is restored into
perfect condition. Judging by many of the items on display, it is
clear that the owner, Francois Pinault, likes what | call ‘gimmicks’ In
order to give the unknown and often—in my opinion—not very
promising artists credibility, some established artists get mixed
in. After having walked through most of the museum, getting
slowly hopeless because of the lack of sincerity, we entered the
room of Giuseppe Penone. He is a true artist and his playfulness
is something one has to understand, he is /talian. The next space
showed a huge installation by Takashi Murakami and | must say,
whether you like it or not, this is Japan, this feels truthful.

Finally we reached the Lee Ufan room. On three walls were hanging
in total 12 paintings, 3-6-3, not a big size, maybe 50cm x 30cm—
but | can be totally mistaken since estimating sizes is not one of my
strong points. There were two benches in the room; | sat down to
let the works work. They were perfectly hung, very esthetic; very
clean, too clean? | got up and had a closer look. All canvases each
had one brushstroke; they were placed so precisely and so similar
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that you have to look very closely to see that they are not made
mechanically. It felt to me, that these works had less soul. Might
that be because of the background? It had a plastic feeling to it.
I had never had that feeling before. The painting on the far right
side, showed on the side the date it was made: 12-12-2012. That
must have been just after he had visited us in Venice. He must have
come back to Paris and made these immediately. Were they made
for Pinault, with whom he might not have a feeling? Is that the
reason why this Lee Ufan presentation feels less than usual? Still,
however the work gets created and presented, it will always stay
real. It always will be a meaningful Encounter.
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Personal Structures Art Projects # 06

LEE UFAN
ENCOUNTERS

Personal Structures Art Projects are projects which are documented
as special edition artists’ books. Each project centralizes one artist
and emphasises his work. All books in this series will be published
by Global Art Affairs Foundation, the Netherlands. An exerpt of
each project will aditionally be published in the ongoing series
PERSONAL STRUCTURES: TIME - SPACE - EXISTENCE.

Previously published in this series:

LAWRENCE WEINER: SKIMMING THE WATER [MENAGE A QUATRE]
HERMANN NITSCH: UNDER MY SKIN

ROMAN OPALKA: TIME PASSING

ON KAWARA: UNANSWERED QUESTIONS

ARNULF RAINER: UNFINISHED INTO DEATH

In discussion to appear as part of Personal Structures Art Projects in
2013 are:

JOSEPH KOSUTH
MICHELANGELO PISTOLETTO
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